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PART I - FINANCIAL INFORMATION
ITEM 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We refer to (1) Highwoods Properties, Inc. as tGerhpany,” (2) Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersagthe “Operating
Partnership,” (3) the Company’s common stock agti@won Stock,” (4) the Company’s preferred stockRxeferred Stock,” (5) the
Operating Partnership’s common partnership interast‘Common Units,” (6) the Operating Partnershgreferred partnership interests as
“Preferred Units” and (7) in-service propertiesdlexling apartment units) to which the Company ftesdnd 100.0% ownership rights as the
“Wholly Owned Properties.”

The information furnished in the accompanying Cdidated Financial Statements reflect all adjustragobnsisting of normal recurrir
accruals) that are, in our opinion, necessary fairgpresentation of the aforementioned finanstatements for the interim period.

The aforementioned financial statements shouldehd in conjunction with the notes to Consolidatedhfcial Statements and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financ@dition and Results of Operations included heagid in our 2003 amended Annual
Report on Form 10-K.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited and $ in thousands, except per sharei@tsio

Assets:
Real estate assets, at ct
Land and improvemen
Buildings and tenant improvemet
Development in proces
Land held for developme!
Furniture, fixtures and equipme

Less— accumulated depreciatic

Net real estate asst¢

Property held for sal
Cash and cash equivalel
Restricted cas
Accounts receivable, n
Notes receivabl
Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Investments in unconsolidated affilias
Other asset:

Deferred leasing cos

Deferred financing cos

Prepaid expenses and otl

Less— accumulated amortizatic
Other assets, n

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity:
Mortgages and notes payal
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheiitied
Financing obligation

Total Liabilities
Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Stockholder Equity:
Preferred stock, $.01 par value, 50,000,000 autbdrshares
8 5/8% Series A Cumulative Redeemable PreferredeSHaquidation preference $1,000 per share)
104,945 shares issued and outstanding at Jun€30,etd December 31, 20
8% Series B Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sllayeslation preference $25 per share), 6,900
shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 200Becaber 31, 20C
8% Series D Cumulative Redeemable Preferred Sliageglation preference $250 per share), 400,
shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 200Beremmber 31, 20C
Common stock, $.01 par value, 200,000,000 authdshares; 53,716,340 shares issued and outstaa
June 30, 2004 and 53,474,403 at December 31, 2883 ctively
Additional paic-in capital
Distributions in excess of net earnir
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Deferred compensatic

Total Stockholder Equity

December 31

June 30,
2004 2003

(Unaudited)
$ 402,89¢ $ 426,29°
2,936,76! 3,105,30!
23,027 7,48t
191,40¢ 195,02:
22,13 21,81¢
3,576,22! 3,755,93I
(563,67) (544,559
3,012,55: 3,211,37.
64,95¢ 78,624
11,67 21,55
4,90: 4,60z
14,25 18,17¢
10,70¢ 10,06¢
58,27¢ 58,91:
79,54( 62,41
105,38¢ 103,22:
16,08: 19,28¢
13,26! 10,44:
134,73: 132,95:
(58,927 (55,647
75,80¢ 77,304
$3,332,66; $3,543,02:
$1,603,48" $1,717,76!
117,53( 101,60¢
63,34¢ 124,06:
1,784,36! 1,943,43
121,00¢ 127,77¢
104,94! 104,94!
172,50( 172,50(
100,00( 100,00(
537 53t
1,415,29! 1,408,88:
(357,56) (306,93
(3,149 (3,650
(5,28 (4,469
1,427,29. 1,471,81.



Total Liabilities and Stockholde’ Equity $3,332,66. $3,543,02

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Income Statements

(Unaudited and in thousands, except per share asjoun

Rental and other revenues

Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
General and administratiy

Total operating expens

Interest expense:
Contractua
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Financing obligation

Other income/expense
Interest and other incon
Loss on debt extinguishme

(Loss)/income before disposition of property, co-veure expense, minority
interest and equity in earnings of unconsolidated féiliates

Gains on disposition of property, r
Cco-venture expens

Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia

Income from continuing operations
Discontinued operation

(Loss)/income from discontinued operations, nanofority interes!
(Loss)/gain on sale of discontinued operationsphetinority interes

Net income
Dividends on preferred stox

Net (loss attributable to)/income available for cormon stockholders

Net income per common shar—basic:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic

(Loss)/income from discontinued operatic

Net (loss)/incom

Weighted average common shares outstar—basic

Net income per common shar—diluted:
Income/(loss) from continuing operatic

(Loss)/income from discontinued operatic

Net (loss)/incom

Three Months Ended June 30,

Six Months Ended June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003
$ 118,48: $ 126,22 $238,67! $ 253,10
42,42: 43,98t 86,64 87,11
34,41 35,73¢ 70,16( 71,86(
7,86¢ 6,96( 18,53¢ 11,63:
84,70: 86,68 17534, 170,60
27,37 30,29: 54,58t 60,45
92t 902 2,06¢ 1,80(
1,42€ 4,161 6,11¢ 9,03¢
29,72: 35,35/ 62,77 71,29(
1,48: 1,881 3,23¢ 3,057
(12,45) — (12,45) (14,659
(10,979 1,881 (9,221 (11,59
(6,919) 6,061 (8,669 (381)
14,40¢ 1,61( 15,47t 2,41¢
— (2,169 — (4,255)
(16€) 65 527 1,65(
1,54¢ 1,371 2,83: 2,52¢
8,86¢ 6,94¢ 10,17: 1,95¢
(14) 844 192 1,73¢
(3,457) 894 (21) 90C
(3,47)) 1,73¢ 172 2,63¢
5,39¢ 8,68: 10,34« 4,59¢
(7,719 (7,719 (15420 (15,426
$ (2315 $  96C $ (5087 $ (10,839
$ 00z $ (00) $ (010 $ (0.29
(0.06) 0.0% — 0.0E
$ (00H) $ 00z $ (010 $ (0.20
53,27 52,92 53,22t 53,03
$ 00z $ (00) $ (010 $ (0.29
(0.06) 0.0% — 0.0E
$ (00H) $ 00z $ (010 $ (0.20



Weighted average common shares outstar—diluted 53,27 53,40: 53,22 53,03:

Dividends declared per common sh $ 0428 $ 042 $ 08 $ 101

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgsients
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Balance at December 31, 2C

Issuance of Common Sto

Conversion of Common Units to
Common Stocl

Common Stock Dividenc

Preferred Stock Dividen

Adjustment to minority interest of
unitholders in the Operating
Partnershig

Issuance of deferred compensal

Fair value of stock options issu

Amortization of deferred
compensatiol

Other comprehensive incor

Net income

Balance at June 30, 20

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity
For the Six Months Ended June 30, 2004
(Unaudited and $ in thousands, except share amounts

Accumulated

Distributions
Other
Number of Common Additional  Deferred  Compre- in Excess
Common Series A SeriesB  Series D Paid-In Compen- hensive of Net
Shares Stock Preferred Preferred Preferred Capital sation Loss Earnings Total

53,474,40 $ 53E$104,94!$172,50($100,00($1,408,88: $(4,469$ (3,65() $(306,939) $1,471,81.
70,76¢ 1 — — — 1,39: — — — 1,39:

54,30 — — — — 1,40  — — — 1,40¢
- — — — — — — —  (4554) (45,54)
- = — — — — — — (15420 (15,429

- — — — — (435 — — — (435)

116,86: y— — — 2,79C (2,79)) — — —
- — — — — 1,25€ (1,256) — — —
- - — — — — 323 — — 3,23
S — — — — - - 50¢ — 50¢

- — — — S — — 10,34 10,34

53,716,34 $ 537$104,94:$172,50($100,00($1,415,29! $(5,280)$ (3,141) $(357,567) $1,427,29.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdsients.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Operating activities:
Income from continuing operatiol

Adjustments to reconcile income from continuing @piens to net cash provided by operating actisi

Depreciation and amortizatic
Amortization of deferred compensati
Amortization of deferred financing cos
Amortization of accumulated other comprehensive
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia
Loss on debt extinguishmer
Gains on disposition of property, r
Minority interest in the Operating Partners
Discontinued operatior

Changes in financing obligatic

Changes in c¢-venture obligatior

Changes in operating assets and liabili

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities:

Additions to real estate ass:

Proceeds from disposition of real estate as
Distributions from unconsolidated affiliat
Investments in notes receival
Contributions to unconsolidated affiliat
Other investing activitie

Net cash provided by /(used in) investing actigi

Financing activities:

Distributions paid on common stock and common
Dividends paid on preferred sto

Net proceeds from the sale of common si
Repurchase of common stock and common 1
Borrowings on revolving loa

Repayment of revolving log

Borrowings on mortgages and notes payi
Repayment of mortgages and notes pay
Payments on financing obligatit

Additions to deferred financing cos
Payments on debt extinguishme

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equis.
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the ¢b

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the pi

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for intere:

See accompanying notes to consolidated finanassients.

Six Months Ended June 30,

2004 2003
$ 1017: $ 1,95
70,16( 71,86(
3,23¢ 1,18¢
2,06¢ 1,80(
407 89¢
(2,839 (2,526)
12,45’ 14,65:
(15,47%) (2,412)
(527) (1,650)
724 3,43¢
1,782 3,271
— 69€
(6,395) (14,706
75,77¢ 78,45¢
(58,670) (52,677
84,80¢ 30,69¢
3,43¢ 5,29¢
63 (1,790
(3,487) —
42 (62)
26,19t (18,53¢)
(50,782 (60,817)
(15,42¢) (15,426
1,39: 407
(50) (16,68%)
334,00 129,50
(192,000) (91,500)
143,00 20,00(
(256,28() (7,455
(62,500) —
(881) 7
(12,327 (16,287
(111,850 (58,249
(9,879 1,674
21,55: 15,79¢
$ 1167: $ 17,47(
$ 55517 $ 64,90¢



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (Continued)
(Unaudited and in thousands)

Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing anthfincing activities:

The following table summarizes the net assets aedidisposed subject to mortgage notes payabletwed non-cash transactions:

Assets:

Net real estate asse¢

Restricted cas

Accounts receivabl

Notes receivabl

Accrued straigt-line rents receivabl
Investments in unconsolidated affilia
Deferred financing cos

Liabilities:
Mortgages and notes payal
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and otheritied

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgsients.
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Six Months Ended June 30,

2004 2003
$ (152,819 $ (2,180
— 1,77€
702 1,147
14,30( 2,74¢
$ (137,81) $ 3.48:
(143,000 —
5,18¢ 3,48¢
$ (137,81) $ 3,48¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
June 30, 2004
(Unaudited)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDB ASIS OF P RESENTATION
Description of Business

Highwoods Properties, Inc. and its consolidatecsslidries (the “Company”) is a self-administered aelf-managed real estate
investment trust (“REIT”) that operates in the $matstern and midwestern United States. The Compavholly-owned assets include: 462
in-service office, industrial and retail properti@s252 acres of undeveloped land suitable forréutlevelopment; and an additional three
properties under development (the “Wholly Ownedprties”).

The Company conducts substantially all of its atiéis through, and substantially all of its intdsei® the properties are held directly or
indirectly by, Highwoods Realty Limited Partnersifibpe “Operating Partnership”). The Company issbke general partner of the Operating
Partnership. At June 30, 2004, the Company own8d¥ of the preferred partnership interests (“RrefeUnits”)and 89.7% of the comm
partnership interests (“Common Units”) in the Opiag Partnership. Holders of Common Units may redégem for the cash value of one
share of the Company’s Common Stock, $.01 par vghee"Common Stock”), or, at the Company’s optione share of Common Stock.
During the six months ended June 30, 2004, the @ompedeemed from limited partners (including daertdficers and directors of the
Company) 1,960 Common Units for $0.05 million irsleaand converted 54,308 Common Units in exchang€dmmon Stock on a one-for-
one basis. The Company’s weighted average owneofl@ommon Units during the six months ended Juhe804 was 89.7%. The three
series of Preferred Units in the Operating Parhipraere issued to the Company in connection with@ompany's three Preferred Stock
offerings in 1997 and 1998. The net proceeds rdised each of the three Preferred Stock issuanegs wontributed by the Company to the
Operating Partnership in exchange for preferresr@sts in the Operating Partnership. The termsacti series of Preferred Units generally
parallel the terms of the respective PreferredlSéscto dividends, liquidation and redemption right

Basis of Presentation

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Compaiiude the Operating Partnership, wholly ownehlsidiaries and those
subsidiaries in which the Company owns a majoritiing interest with the ability to control operatgof the subsidiaries and where no
approval, veto or other important rights have bgamted to the minority shareholders. In accordavite Statement of Position 78-9,
“Accounting for Investments in Real Estate Ventyrdse Company consolidates partnerships, jointwes and limited liability companies
when the Company controls the major operating arahtial policies of the entity through majority mgrship or in its capacity as general
partner or managing member. The Company does msbtidate entities where the other interest holtlase important rights, including
approving decisions to encumber the entities witht dnd acquire or dispose of properties. In amttithe Company consolidates those
entities, if any, where the Company is deemed tthberimary beneficiary in a variable interestitgrias defined by FASB Interpretation N
46 (revised December 2003), “Consolidation of Vialganterest Entities” (“FIN 46")). All significanintercompany transactions and accounts
have been eliminated.

The Company has elected and expects to contingeaiify as a REIT under Sections 856 through 86thefinternal Revenue Code of
1986 (the “Code”), as amended. As a REIT, the Campgenerally will not be subject to federal or steiicome taxes on its net income that it
distributes to stockholders. Continued qualificatas a REIT depends on the Company’s ability tisfyahe dividend distribution tests, stock
ownership requirements, and various other quatificaests prescribed in the Code. In June 19%1Chmpany formed a taxable REIT
subsidiary, as permitted under the Code, througitwit conducts certain business activities; thebde REIT subsidiary is subject to federal
and state income taxes on its net taxable incordgtenCompany records provisions for such taxeke@xtent required based on its income
recognized for financial statement purposes, inolythe effects of temporary differences betwearthsaocome and that recognized for tax
purposes.
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

1. DESCRIPTION OF B USINESS ANDB AsIs oF P RESENTATION - Continued

Certain amounts originally reported in the JuneZ®BM3 and the amended December 31, 2003 finartaiginsents have been reclassi
to conform to the June 30, 2004 presentation andwting for discontinued operations (see Noter9udher discussion). These
reclassifications had no effect on net income oclgiolders’ equity as previously reported.

The accompanying financial information has not baedited, but in the opinion of management, allstipents (consisting of normal
recurring accruals) necessary for a fair preseamtadf the Company’s financial position, result©pérations and cash flows have been made.
The Company has condensed or omitted certain aoigsther information from the interim financishtetments presented in this Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q. These financial statementsldize read in conjunction with the Company’s 2@@8nded Annual Report on Form
10-K.

The preparation of financial statements in accardamith US Generally Accepted Accounting Princigt88AAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfinztttae amounts reported in the financial statetmend accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Minority interest in the Operating Partnership. Minority interest in the accompanying Consolidakédancial Statements relates to
the common ownership interests in the OperatingnBeship owned by various individuals and entiGdser than the Company. As of June
2004, the minority interest in the Operating Parthi consisted of 6.1 million Common Units. Mingrinterest in the net income of the
Operating Partnership is computed by applying tegtted average percentage of Common Units not dwwgehe Company (as a percen
the total number of outstanding Common Units) s @perating Partnershiphet income after deducting distributions on RrefeUnits. The
result is the amount of minority interest experesmrded for the period. In addition, when a commwitholder redeems a Common Unit fc
share of Common Stock or cash, the minority intaeeseduced and the Company’s share in the Opgr&artnership is increased.

At the end of each reporting period, the Compartgrd@nes the amount that represents the minorithalders’ share of the net assets
(at book value) of the Operating Partnership amdpares this amount to the minority interest balgheéresulted from transactions during
the period involving minority interest. The Compadjusts the minority interest liability to the cputed share of net assets with an offse
adjustment to the Company’s paid in capital.

Following is the minority interest in the net inceraf the Operating Partnership ($ in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Minority Interest in continuing operatiol $ (1660 $ 65 $527 $1,65(
Amount related to income from discontinued operet 2 (107) (22 (223)
Amount related to gain on sale of discontinued afiens 39¢ (113) — (119
Total Minority Interest in net income of the OpémgtPartnershij $ 23t $ (155 $50: $1,31¢
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES

During the past several years, the Company hasgfrarious joint ventures with unrelated investdtsee Company has retained
minority equity interests ranging from 12.50% to@@% in these joint ventures. The Company has ateduor its unconsolidated joint
ventures using the equity method of accountingaAasult, the assets and liabilities of these jeémtures for which it uses the equity method
of accounting are not included on the Company’sdbtdated Balance Sheet. As of June 30, 2004, a@nk\enture is accounted for as a
financing arrangement pursuant to Statement ofrigiah Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 66, “Accoimg for Sales of Real Estate,” as
described in Note 3, and accordingly is not reéiddh the table below.

The following table sets forth information regarmgliine Company’s unconsolidated joint ventures esrted on the joint ventures’
books for the six months ended June 30, 2004 a@d @Pin thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30, 2004 Six Months Ended June 30, 2003
Net Net
Percent Operating Depr/ Income/ Operating Depr/ Income/
Owned Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss) Revenue Expenses Interest Amort (Loss)
Income Statement Data:
Board of Trade Investment
Company 4900% $ 1257 $ 85t % 27 $ 22t $ 15C $1,21£ $ 791 $ 34 $ 20C $ 19C
Dallas County Partne (1) 50.00% 5,14¢ 2,92t 1,304 934 (15) 5,38( 2,757 1,38¢ 982 252
Dallas County Partners (1) 50.00% 3,13( 1,39¢ 1,132 371 231 3,12¢ 1,29¢ 1,19( 411 22¢
Fountain Thre(1) 50.0(% 3,744 1,63¢ 1,06¢ 772 267 3,562 1,51« 1,141 79€ 111
RRHWoods, LLC(1) 50.0(% 6,80z 3,86( 1,24¢ 1,731 (37 6,94¢ 3,60¢ 1,34¢ 1,70¢ 291
Kessinger/Hunter, LL( 26.5(% 3,192 2,39¢ — 34¢ 44r 2,92 2,39¢ — 331 20C
4600 Madison Associates, |  12.5(% 2,55¢ 1,69 — 862 4 2,84( 1,07¢ 59t 887 28C

Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 9,89t 2,79 2,26¢ 1,76z 3,07¢ 9,67¢ 2,747 2,300 1,72¢ 2,89t
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF

99/32, LP 42 9% 7,551 2,16t 2,27¢ 2,11¢ 994 8,10¢ 2,21¢F 2,302 2,000 1,58
Highwoods-Markel

Associates, LLC 50.00(% 3,34t 742 1,15k 73E 71z 1,63¢ 861 55¢ 29¢ (82
MG-HIW Peachtree Corners

I, LLC (2) 50.00% — — — — — 17& 62 62 43 8
MG-HIW Metrowest |, LLC

?3) 50.00% — 5 — — ) — 16 — — (16)
MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC

3) 50.00(% 141 88 39 70 (56) 26€ 222 83 162 (202)
Concourse Center Associate

LLC 50.00(% 1,05: 284 34¢ 16€ 254 1,02¢ 26¢ 34¢ 151 262
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.00(% 7 2 — 9 4 8 — — 2 6
Highwoods KC Glenridge,

LLC (4) 40.0(% 1,22¢ 48¢ 124 18€ 43C — — — — —
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(5) 40.0(% 281 79 62 — 14C — — — — —
Total $49,33( $21,41: $11,05¢ $10,28¢ $6,577 $46,88¢ $19,82¢ $11,34¢ $9,70t $6,00¢

(1) Des Moines joint venture

(2) As part of the MG-HIW, LLC acquisition on Jud®, 2003, the Company was assigned Miller GlolZ0®% equity interest in the
single property encompassing 53,896 square feeedwyg MG-HIW Peachtree Corners Ill, LLC. As a résthiis entity became wholly
owned as of July 29, 2003 and is consolidated disadfdate

(3) On March 2, 2004, the Company exercised arongt acquire its partner’'s 50.0% equity interaghie assets of MG-HIW Metrowest I,
LLC and MG-HIW Metrowest Il, LLC. The Company patd partner $3.2 million for such remaining inte¢rasd a $7.4 million
construction loan was paid in full by the Compahlye assets encompass 87,832 square feet of pr@petty.0 acres of development
land zoned for the development of 90,000 squaredfeeffice space. This acquisition increased tloen@any’s ownership interest to
100.0% and these entities are consolidated as oftiviy 2004

(4) The Company and Kapital-Consult, a Europeamstment firm, formed this joint venture partnershipich on February 26, 2004
acquired from a third party Glenridge Point OffReark, consisting of two office buildings aggreggtt85,000 square feet located in the
Central Perimeter sub-market of Atlanta. As of J88g2004, the buildings were 91.0% leased. The 2o contributed $10.0 million
to the joint venture in return for a 40.0% equitjerest and Kapital-Consult contributed $14.9 wiillfor a 60.0% equity interest in the
partnership. The joint venture entered into a $h6ilBon ten-year secured loan on the assets. Tdragany is the manager and leasing



agent for this property and will receive customiargnagement fees and leasing commissions. The &auiso included 2.9 acres of
development land that can accommodate 150,000 esdgeretr of office spact

10



Table of Contents

HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

2. | NVESTMENTS IN U NCONSOLIDATED A FFILIATES - Continued

(5) On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a Europeasstment firm, bought an interest in HIW-KC OrlandLC, an entity formed by the
Company. HIW-KC Orlando, LLC owns five in servicHice properties, encompassing 1.3 million rentagjaare feet, located in the
central business district of Orlando, Florida, whigere valued under the joint venture agreeme$2a2.0 million, including amounts
related to the Company’s guarantees described balodvwhich were subject to a $136.2 million sedur®rtgage loan. Kapital-
Consult contributed $42.1 million in cash and reedia 60.0% equity interest in return. The jointtuee borrowed $143.0 million unc
a ten-year fixed rate mortgage loan from a thindyplender and repaid the $136.2 million loan. Twmpany retained a 40.0% equity
interest in the joint venture and received net gasiceeds of approximately $46.6 million, of wh#33.0 million was used to pay down
the Company’s $250.0 million revolving loan (thegi®lving Loan”) and $13.6 million was used to paywd other debt of the
Company. In connection with this transaction, tleenPany agreed to guarantee rent to the joint verfarr3,248 rentable square feet
commencing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20Additionally, the Company agreed to guaranteenanting costs for
approximately 11.0% of the joint venture’s totaliatg footage. The Company recorded a $4.1 millawility with respect to such
guarantee as of June 30, 2004 and reduced theatotaint of the gain recognized by the same amdinet Company believes its
estimate related to the tepanting costs guarantee is accurate. Howeviés,aSsumptions prove to be incorrect, future lsssay occul
The contribution was accounted for as a partia aaldefined by SFAS No. 66, and the Company rézedgma $15.9 million gain in
June 2004. Since the Company has an ongoing 40m@#icfal interest in the joint venture and sinoce @ompany is engaged by the jt
venture to provide management and leasing serfaceke joint venture, for which it receives custmyn management fees and leasing
commissions, the operations of these propertidswailbe reflected as discontinued operations stesi with SFAS No. 144,
“Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Lohgred Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”") and the related gainsale was included in
continuing operations in June 20l

In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretationd6o(“FIN 46”), “Consolidation of Variable IntereEntities” (“VIES”), the primary
objective of which is to provide guidance on thertification of entities for which control is ackiedl through means other than voting rights
and to determine when and which business enterghiseld consolidate the VIEs. This new model agplben either (1) the equity investors
(if any) do not have a controlling financial intster (2) the equity investment at risk is insuéfitt to finance the entity’s activities without
additional financial support. FIN 46 also requiagklitional disclosures. FIN 46 was effective imnag¢elly for interests acquired subsequent to
January 31, 2003 and was effective March 31, 200#terests in VIEs created before February 1320Bie Company assessed its variable
interests, including the joint ventures listed adgcand determined the interests were not VIES. Aesalt, the provisions of FIN 46 did not
have an impact on the Company’s financial conditionesults of operations.

3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS

The following summarizes sales transactions ttaaacounted for as financing arrangements at Jon20®4 under paragraphs 25
through 29 under SFAS No. 66.

SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, the Company contributeddtéidw Plaza, an office building located in Tampkrida, to SF-HIW
Harborview Plaza, LP (“Harborview LP"), a newly foed entity, in exchange for a 20.0% limited parshgr interest and $35.4 million in
cash. The Company also entered into a master &msement with Harborview, LP for five years on vheant space in the building
(approximately 20.0%) and guaranteed payment @frteimprovements and lease commissions of $1.2omilThe Company’s maximum
exposure to loss under the master lease agreenasr#2vl million at September 11, 2002 and was $illbn at June 30, 2004. Additionall
the Company’s partner in Harborview LP was gramitedright to put its 80.0% equity interest in Harbew LP to the Company in exchange
for cash at any time during the one-year periodroemcing on September 11, 2014. The value of tha8@quity interest will be determined
at the time, if ever, that such partner electscarase its put right, based upon the then fairketavalue of Harborview LP’s assets and
liabilities, less 3.0%, which was intended to comermal costs of a sale transaction.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

3. FINANCING A RRANGEMENTS - Continued

Because of the put option and master lease agréethisnransaction is accounted for as a finantiagsaction. Accordingly, the ass:
liabilities and operations related to HarborviewaZl, the property owned by Harborview LP, includimy new financing by the partnership,
remain on the books of the Company. As a residtGQbmpany has established a financing obligatiaraktp the net equity contributed by !
other partner. At the end of each reporting peribe balance of the financing obligation is adjdsteequal the current fair value, which is
$13.8 million at June 30, 2004, but not less thendriginal financing obligation. This adjustmesngimortized prospectively through
September 2014. Additionally, the net income friwa dperations before depreciation of Harborvieve@klocable to the 80.0% partner is
recorded as interest expense on the financing atisig. The Company continues to record all of thprdciation on its books. Additionally,
any payments made under the master lease agrearmespensed as incurred ($0.05 million and $0lkomiwas expensed during the six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectiaetyany amounts paid under the tenant improvenmehtesse commission guarantee are
capitalized and amortized to expense over the mntalease term. At such time as the put optiorirespr otherwise is terminated, the
Company will record the transaction as a sale andgnize gain on sale.

Eastshore

On November 26, 2002, the Company sold three mgkllocated in Richmond, Virginia for a total puask price of $28.5 million in
cash, which was paid in full by the buyer at clgsfthe “Eastshore” transaction). Each of the sotiperties is a single tenant building leased
on a triple-net basis to Capital One Services, lmesubsidiary of Capital One Financial Servicas, |

In connection with the sale, the Company enter&alarrental guarantee agreement for each buildinthe benefit of the buyer to
guarantee any rent shortfalls which may be incuimetie payment of rent and re-tenanting costaffive-year period from the date of sale
(through November 2007). The Company’s maximum sxp®to loss under the rental guarantee agreemest$18.7 million at the date of
sale and $14.5 million as of June 30, 2004. In A0, the Company began to make monthly paymerttetbuyer, at an annual rate of $0.1
million, as a result of the existing tenant reneywnlease in one building at a lower rental rate.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghewent as prescribed by SFAS No. 66. Becauseuheagtees cover the entire sp
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, the Company’s guarantees are coedidguaranteed return on the buyer’s
investment for an extended period of time. Themftite transaction has been accounted for as rcfimatransaction. Accordingly, the assets
and operations are included in these ConsolidaitehEial Statements, and a financing obligatio§28.5 million was initially recorded
which represents the amount received from the bdyer income from the operations of the propertidiser than depreciation, is allocated
100.0% to the owner as interest expense on fingratitigation. Payments made under the rent guagaratee charged to expense as incurred
which totaled $0.01 million for the six months eddiine 30, 2004. This transaction will be recoraed completed sale transaction in the
future when the maximum exposure to loss undegtizgantees is equal to or less than the related gai

MG-HIW, LLC

As previously disclosed, on March 2, 2004, the Canypexercised its option and acquired its partr#0’'8% interest in the Orlando
City Group of MG-HIW, LLC. At the closing of theansaction, the Company paid its partner, Millerlialp $62.5 million and a $7.5 million
letter of credit delivered to the seller in conmattwith the option was cancelled. The initial admition of these assets was accounted for
financing arrangement and continued to be so tght®ugh March 1, 2004. The financing obligatioasveliminated on March 2, 2004. Sii
the financing obligation was adjusted each peraychf20.0% leveraged internal rate of return guasmo gain or loss was recognized upon
the extinguishment of the financing obligation.
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4. A SSeTD ISPOSITIONS
Gains on disposition of properties, excluding gainksses from discontinued operations, consistede following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
(Loss)/gain on disposition of land, net of impainh $(1,830) $1,398 $ (679 $2,37:2
Gain on disposition of depreciable proper 16,23¢ 21t 16,15¢ 23¢
(Impairment) of depreciable properti — — — (297)
Total $14,40f $1,61C $1547¢ $2,41¢

Gains on disposition of properties, net of minonitierest from discontinued operations, consisfaeti@following:

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Gain on disposition of depreciable proper $ — $1,000 $3,83F $1,141
(Impairment) of depreciable properti (3,856 — (3,85€) (12¢)
Allocable minority interes 39¢ (119 — (119
Total $(3.457H) $ 894 $ (21) $ 90C

On June 16, 2004, the Company sold a 177,000 sdpeatréuilding (the network operations center) keckin the Highwoods Preserve
Office Park in Tampa, Florida. Highwoods Preses/a 816,000 square foot office park that has nen lmecupied since WorldCom vacated
the space as of December 31, 2002. Net proceeustfre sale were approximately $18.6 million. Theeatiad a net book value of
approximately $22.4 million. The Company recogniaedmpairment loss of approximately $3.7 millionApril 2004 when the planned sale
met the criteria to be classified as held for seleonnection with the sale of the network operagicenter, the buyer also agreed to purch
3.3 acre tract of development land located in ffieeopark for approximately $1.4 million, which ssibject to the Company securing certain
development rights for the land from the local noipality. The net book value of the land is appmoeately $0.6 million and was classified as
held for sale in accordance with SFAS No.144 inill2904. This land sale is subject to customargiclg conditions and no assurances can
be provided that the disposition will occur. Thenegning assets in the office park were classifistield for use as of June 30, 2004 and
continue to be so classified in accordance with Si. 144,

In May 2004, the Company executed two agreemerdslt@pproximately 30.0 acres of land in suburBaliimore, Maryland. The
agreements provide for estimated net proceedspybajmately $6.1 million and the net book valuetod land is $7.9 million. Accordingly,
an impairment loss of approximately $1.8 millionswacorded in May 2004 when the land was reclassffom held for use to held for sale.
On September 30, 2004, one sale of 27.0 acresavasimmated. The Company received $5.5 million trpneceeds. The sale of the
remaining 3.0 acres is subject to customary closorglitions and no assurances can be providedhbatisposition will occur.

See Note 9 for additional disclosure on asset impatit and disposals in accordance with SFAS No. 144
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

5. Put O PTION N OTES R EFINANCING AND R EVOLVING L OAN

In 1997, the Operating Partnership sold $100.0anilbf Exercisable Put Option Notes due June 1%13¢€he “Put Option Notes”). The
Put Option Notes bore an interest rate of 7.19%nftloe date of issuance through June 15, 2004. Aftee 15, 2004, the interest rate to
maturity on the Put Option Notes was required t@138% plus the applicable spread determined dsraé 10, 2004. In connection with the
initial issuance of the Put Option Notes, a couptety was granted an option to purchase the Ptib@plotes on June 15, 2004 at 100.0% of
the principal amount. The counter party exerciségldption and acquired the Put Option Notes ore I 2004. On that same date, the
Company exercised its option to acquire the Putddptiotes from the counter party for a purchaseepeiqual to the sum of the present value
of the remaining scheduled payments of principdliaterest (assuming an interest rate of 6.39%therPut Option Notes, or $112.5 million.
The difference between the $112.5 million and thed0 million was charged to loss on extinguishneértebt in the quarter ended June 30,
2004. The Company borrowed funds from its Revollingn to make the $112.5 million payment.

In June 2004, the Company amended its Revolving lawal two bank term loans. The changes excludefiité million charge taken
related to the refinancing of the Put Option Ndtem the calculations used to compute financiales@ants. The amendment did not change
any economic terms of the loans. In connection tithamendment, the Company incurred certain loats¢hat are capitalized and
amortized over the remaining term of the loans.

See Note 14 for further discussion of an amendimeAtigust 2004 and a waiver of certain financialeeants in October 2004 to the
Company'’s Revolving Loan and the two bank term éoan

6. RELATED P ARTY T RANSACTIONS

The Company has previously reported that it hasshaghtract to acquire development land in the @lags Valley office development
project from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controllegldn executive officer and director of the Compadyg.January 17, 2003, the Company
acquired an additional 23.5 acres of this land ff@API, Inc. for cash and shares of Common Stockadhikt $2.3 million. In May 2003, 4.0
acres of the remaining acres not yet acquired &yCibimpany was taken by the Georgia Departmentarisportation to develop a roadway
interchange for consideration of $1.8 million. Thepartment of Transportation took possession dleddti the property in June 2003. As part
of the terms of the contract between the CompandyGAPI, Inc., the Company was entitled to the pealsefrom the condemnation of $1.8
million, less the contracted purchase price betwkerCompany and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned ptgpd $0.7 million. On September
30, 2003, as a result of the condemnation, the @oampeceived the proceeds of $1.8 million. A relgtarty payable of $0.7 million to GAF
Inc. related to the condemnation of the developrteantt is included in accounts payable, accruedresgeand other liabilities in the
Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheet at Decemh&0®B and at June 30, 2004.
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7. DERIVATIVE F INANCIAL | NSTRUMENTS

The interest rates on all of the Company’s variabte debt are currently adjusted at one to threetimintervals, subject to settlements
under interest rate hedge contracts. Net paymeadke o counter parties under interest rate hedgieams were nominal in the six months
ended June 30, 2004 and were recorded as increeaisdsrest expense.

In addition, the Company is exposed to certaindsss the event of non-performance by the courdaelypunder the interest rate hedge
contracts. The Company expects the counter pahighais a major financial institution, to performlfy under the contracts. However, if the
counter party was to default on its obligationsemtie interest rate hedge contracts, the Compaulg de required to pay the full rates on its
debt, even if such rates were in excess of theimdtee contracts.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the Coynpatered into and subsequently terminated threedst rate swap agreements
related to a teryear fixed rate financing completed on Decemb@0D3. These swap agreements were designated aiaastedges and tr
unamortized effective portion of the cumulativergan these derivative instruments was $3.6 milibdune 30, 2004 and is being reported as
a component of AOCL in stockholders’ equity. Thifatred gain is being recognized in net income iEslaction of interest expense in the
same period or periods during which interest expamsthe hedged fixed rate financing effects nedfime. The Company expects that
approximately $0.3 million will be recognized irethext 12 months.

In 2003, the Company also entered into two interast swaps related to a floating rate credit itgcilhe swaps effectively fix the one
month LIBOR rate on $20.0 million of floating radebt at 1.59% from January 2, 2004 until May 3020 hese swap agreements are
designated as cash flow hedges and the effectit®pf the cumulative loss on these derivativ&riaments was $0.1 million at June 30,
2004. The Company expects that the portion of theutative loss recorded in AOCL at June 30, 20Gbeaiated with these derivative
instruments, which will be recognized within thexn&2 months, will be approximately $0.1 million.

At June 30, 2004, approximately $5.6 million ofeteéd financing costs from past cash flow hedgmsgruments remain in AOCL,
including those described above. These costs aognized as interest expense as the underlyingisiedpaid and amounted to $0.2 million
and $0.4 million during the quarters ended June2804 and 2003, respectively. The Company expbatghe portion of the cumulative loss
recorded in AOCL at June 30, 2004 associated \wigkd derivative instruments, which will be recogdiwvithin the next 12 months, will be
approximately $0.7 million.

8. O THER C OMPREHENSIVE | NCOME

Other comprehensive income represents net incousetipé results of certain stockholders’ equity gesnnot reflected in the
Consolidated Income Statements. The componentthef comprehensive income are as follows (in thodsa

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Net income $ 539 $ 8,68z $10,34¢ $4,59:
Other comprehensive incorr

Unrealized derivative gains on cashflow hed 187 475 10z 475
Amortization of hedging gains and losses includedther comprehensive incor 197 461 407 89¢
Total other comprehensive incor 384 93¢ 50¢ 1,37:
Total comprehensive incon $ 5782 $ 9,61¢ $10,85: $5,96¢
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9. DISCONTINUED O PERATIONS AND | MPAIRMENT OF L ONG - LIVED A SSETS

In October 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, Wkigercedes SFAS No. 121, “Accounting for the linmpant of Long-Lived
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to be disposedanff the accounting and reporting provisions fepdsals of a segment of business as
addressed in Accounting Principles Board Opinion B “Reporting the Results of Operations-Repgrtime Effects of the Disposal of a
Segment of a Business, and Extraordinary, Unusudlr@requently Occurring Events and Transactions.”

The net operating results and net carrying value 2fnillion square feet of property, 122.8 acresegenue-producing land and four
apartment units sold during 2004 and 2003 and @Ibmsquare feet of property and 88 apartmentuheld for sale at June 30, 2004 are
shown in the following table. These long-lived dsselate to disposal activities that were initiaseibsequent to the effective date of SFAS
No. 144 and are classified as discontinued opermsiiothe Compar's Consolidated Income Statements since the opasatind cash flows
have been or will be eliminated from the ongoingmagions of the Company, and the Company will restehany significant continuing
involvement in the operations after the disposatdaction (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

Total revenue $ 71z $ 295¢ $184¢ $ 6,17:
Operating expenses:

Rental and other operating expen 50€ 88¢ 1,13(C 1,901
Depreciation and amortizatic 22t 70C 50¢ 1,472
Total operating expens 731 1,58¢ 1,63¢ 3,37:
Interest expense — 42¢ — 857
Other income 2 10 8 19

Income before minority interest in the Operating Patnership and gain on sale of
discontinued operations (16) 951 21F 1,96
2

Minority interest in discontinued operatic (107) (22 (223
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations, net afinority interest in the Operating
Partnership (14) 844 19z 1,73¢
(Loss)/gain on sale of discontinued operati (3,856 1,007 (27) 1,01z
Minority interest in discontinued operatia 39¢ (113) — (119
(Loss)/gain/impairment on sale of discontinued opations, net of minority interest in the
Operating Partnership (3,457) 894 (21) 90C
Total discontinued operations $(3.47) $ 1,73t $ 17z $ 2,63¢
Carrying value of assets held for sale and/or solduring the period $18,72( $110,84. $18,72( $110,84:

SFAS No. 144 also requires that a long-lived aslsessified as held for sale be measured at therloivie carrying value or fair value
less cost to sell. During the six months ended 3004, the Company determined that three ptiegdreld for sale, of which one has now
been sold, had a carrying value that was greaser féir value less cost to sell; therefore, an immpant loss of $3.5 million, net of minority
interest, was recognized in the Consolidated Inc8tagement for the six months ended June 30, Z8@42003, an impairment loss relatec
one office property whose carrying value was gretii@n its fair value less cost to sell, which has been sold, was $0.1 million. This
impairment loss is included in gain on sale of dignued operations in the Consolidated Incomee8tant for the six months ended June 30,
2003.

SFAS No. 144 also requires that if indicators op@inment exist, the carrying value of a long-livaes$et classified as held for use be
compared to the sum of its estimated undiscouniead cash flows. If the carrying value is gredten the sum of its undiscounted future
cash flows, an impairment loss should be recogriiaethe excess of the carrying amount of the asget its estimated fair value. At June
2004 and 2003, because there were no propertidgdralise with indicators of impairment where tlagerging value exceeds the sum of
estimated undiscounted future cash flows, no inmpat loss related to held for use properties wesgized during the six months ended
June 30, 2004 and 2003.
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10. Stock —BASED C OMPENSATION

In accordance with SFAS No. 148, “Accounting foo&t-based Compensation — Transition and Disclostihre,Company expenses all
stock options issued on or after January 1, 20@8 the vesting period based upon the fair valub®fward on the date of grant. General
administrative expenses for the six months ended 30, 2004 and 2003 include amortization relatetti¢ vesting of stock options granted
subsequent to January 1, 2003 of $0.2 million @h@Zmillion, respectively. The unamortized vald®ption grants since January 1, 2003
aggregate $0.8 million at June 30, 2004. See bfdothe amounts that would have been deducted frefincome if the Company had
elected to expense the fair value of all stockaspiwards that had vested rather than only thosedsaissued subsequent to January 1, 2003
(amounts shown net of minority interest):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,

2004 2003 2004 2003

($ in thousands, except per share amounts)

Net (loss)/income attributable to common stockh@+ as reporte: $(2,315) $ 96¢ $(5,087) $(10,839)
Add: Stock option expense included in reportedimetme (83 (1) 4717(2) 395(1) 271(2)
Deduct: Total stock option expense determined ufalevalue recognition
method for all award (12) (2) (60¢) (2) (585) (1) (550 (2)

Pro forma net (loss)/income attributable to commtmtkholders $(2,410) $ 83¢ $(5,274) $(11,106)
Basic net (loss)/income per common st- as reporte: $ (0.09 $0.0Z $ (0.10 $ (0.20
Basic net (loss)/income per common st- pro forma $ (0.0%) $0.02 $ (0.10 $ (0.2))
Diluted net (loss)/income per common sh- as reporte $ (0.09 $0.0Z $ (0.10 $ (0.20)

$ (0.05) $0.0z $ (0.10) $ (0.21)

Diluted net (loss)/income per common sh- pro forma

(1) Amounts include the stock option expense rembmliring the period for the accelerated vestifgjed to the retirement of the
Compan’s Chief Executive Officer in June 2004 as well gsemse recorded for dividend equivalent rig

(2) Amounts include the effects of accounting for dend equivalent right:

11. CoMMITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company maintains its cash and cash equiveleestments at financial institutions. The combiaedount balances at each
institution typically exceed the FDIC insurance emge and, as a result, there is a concentratioredft risk related to amounts on deposit in
excess of FDIC insurance coverage. ManagemenedEtmpany believes that the potential risk of issemote.

Contracts

The Company has entered into contracts relateghtant improvements and the development of certapepties totaling $32.2 million
as of June 30, 2004. The amounts remaining to ioeymaler these contracts as of June 30, 2004 tb$e3 million.
Environmental Matters

Substantially all of the Company'’s in-service pndi@s have been subjected to Phase | environmassalssments (and, in certain
instances, Phase Il environmental assessmentd).888essments and/or updates have not revealed, management aware of, any
environmental liability that management believesilddhave a material adverse effect on the accompgrgonsolidated Financial
Statements.
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11. CommITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

Joint Ventures

Certain properties owned in joint ventures withffiiated parties have buy/sell options that mayeercised to acquire the other

partner’s interest by either the Company or itatj@enture partner if certain conditions are metetdorth in the respective joint venture
agreement.

Guarantees and Other Obligations

The following is a tabular presentation and relatesdussion of various guarantees and other omiggtas of June 30, 2004:

Amount Date
Recorded. Guarantee
Type of Guarantee

Entity or Transaction or Other Obligation Deferred  Expires

(4)

()

($ in thousands)

Des Moines Joint Venture(1),(6) Debt $ — Various
RRHWoods, LLC(2),(7) Debt $ —  8/200¢
Plaza Colonnad(2),(8) Construction loan and completir $ 2,842 2/200¢
Plaza Colonnad(2),(8) Letter of credi $ — 12/200¢
SF-HIW Harborview, LP(3),(5) Rent and tenant improveme(4) $ —  9/200i
SF-HIW Harborview, LP(3),(5) Purchase obligatio $13,83: 9/201¢
Eastshore (Capital On(3),(9) Rent(4) $ — 11/200°
Capital One(3),(10) Rent(4) $ 2,96€ 10/200¢
Industrial(3),(11) Rent(4) $ 2,08¢ 12/200¢
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L(2),(12) Rent(4) $ 85EF 6/200¢
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partn(2),(13) Indirect Debl(4) $ 1,29C 6/201¢
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14) Rent(4) $ 62¢ 4/201]
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC(3),(14) Leasing cost $ 4,101 12/202:
(1) Represents guarantees entered into prior to theadad, 2003 effective date of FIN 45 for initiakognition and measureme

(2) Represents guarantees that fall under the ing@dgnition and measurement requirements of FIM

(3) Represents guarantees that are excluded frerfaithvalue accounting and disclosure provisidhnBIN 45 since the existence of such

guarantees prevents sale treatment and/or thenioogof profit from the sale transactic

The maximum potential amount of future paymeligslosed below for these guarantees assumesoting&y pays the maximum
possible liability under the guaranty with no offser reductions. If the space is leased, it assuheeexisting tenant defaults at June 30,
2004 and the space remains unleased through tregrméen of the guaranty term. If the space is vadaassumes the space remains
vacant through the expiration of the guaranty. Siihés assumed that no new tenant will occupysiiece, lease commissions, if
applicable, are exclude

As more fully described in Note 3, in 2002 tbempany granted its partner in $#W Harborview, LP a put option and also entered

a master lease arrangement for five years coveangnt space in the building owned by the partriershd agreed to pay certain tenant
improvement costs. The maximum potential amourftitofre payments as of June 30, 2004 the Company teurequired to make
related to the rent guarantees and tenant improvenige$1.3 million
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11. CommITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(6)

(7)

(8)

(9)

The Company has guaranteed certain loans inestion with the Des Moines joint ventures. The imaxn potential amount of future
payments the Company could be required to makeruhdegyuarantees is $25.1 million. Of this amo@8t6 million arose from housir
revenue bonds that require credit enhancementditi@n to the real estate mortgages. The bonds@#aating interest rate, which at
June 30, 2004 averaged 1.08% and mature in 201&aBiees of $9.5 million will expire upon two inthial buildings becoming 93.8¢
and 95.0% leased or when the related loans maisref June 30, 2004, these buildings were 93.2%7&n0% leased, respectively. T
remaining $7.0 million in guarantees relate to fan four office buildings that were in the leagephase at the time the loans were
initiated. Each of the loans will expire by May BT he average occupancy of the four buildingauaeB0, 2004 is 89.0%. If the joint
ventures are unable to repay the outstanding balander the loans, the Company will be requiredeutthe terms of the agreements
repay the outstanding balance. Recourse provigriss to enable the Company to recover some afailich payments from the joint
ventures’ assets and/or the other partner. The yeintures currently generate sufficient cash flowover the debt service required by
the loans

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint verd, the Company renewed its guarantee of $6.2omilb a bank in July 2003; this
guarantee expires in August 2006 and may be renbwéte Company. The bank provides a letter ofitssturing industrial revenue
bonds, which mature in 2015. The Company wouldeogiired to perform under the guarantee shouldadiné yenture be unable to
repay the bonds. The Company has recourse prosigioorder to recover from the joint venture’s éssad the other partner for
amounts paid in excess of their proportionate shidre property collateralizing the bonds is 100le#sed and currently generates
sufficient cash flow to cover the debt service isgghiby the bond financing. As a result, no lidlilias been recorded in the Company’s
Balance Shee

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joieiture, the Company has included $2.8 millionthreo liabilities and adjusted the
investment in unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8limnl on its Consolidated Balance Sheet at Jun@304 related to two separate
guarantees of a construction loan agreement andstraction completion agreement. The construdban matures in February 2006,
with two one-year options to extend the maturittedhat are conditional on completion and leasefuthe project. The term of the
construction completion agreement requires the andeshell of the building to be completed by Delseni5, 2005. Currently, the
building is scheduled to be completed in DecemB@A2Both guarantees arose from the formation@fdmt venture to construct an
office building. If the joint venture is unable tepay the outstanding balance under the construliam agreement or complete the
construction of the office building, the Companyulbbe required, under the terms of the agreemenmtepay its 50.0% share of the
outstanding balance under the construction loancantplete the construction of the office buildi@n March 30, 2004, the Industrial
Development Authority of the City of Kansas Cityjdgouri issued $18.5 million in non-recourse botadfinance public improvements
made by the joint venture for the benefit of thenBas City Missouri Public Library. Since the joieinture leases the land for the office
building from the library, the joint venture is amted to build certain public improvements. Thebwnd proceeds of $16.3 million will
be used to reimburse the joint venture for its086 funds are transferred from the bond fundhéoconstruction lender, the Compasy’
exposure is reduced. The maximum potential amalufuttare payments by the Company under these agreemnis $27.6 million if the
construction loan is fully funded. No recourse ps@ns exist that would enable the Company to recérom the other partner amounts
paid under the guarantee. However, given thatahe is collateralized by the building, the Company their partner could obtain and
liquidate the building to recover the amounts siduld the Company be required to perform undegtia@antee

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC construttaman and completion agreement described aboggaltners collectively provided
$12.0 million in letters of credit in December 2088.0 million by the Company and $6.0 million by partner. The Company and its
partner would be held liable under the letter efdiragreements should the joint venture not coteenstruction of the building. The
letters of credit expire in December 31, 2004. Bloourse provisions exist that would enable the Gompo recover from the other
partner amounts drawn under the letter of credie Building is nearing completion and the firstatienis expected to take occupancy in
the fourth quarter of 2004.

As more fully described in Note 3, in connentiith the sale of three office buildings to a thiarty in 2002 (the “Eastshore”
transaction), the Company agreed to guaranteeshamtfalls and re-tenanting costs for a five-yesniqul of time from the date of sale
(i.e., through November 2007). The maximum potéatiaount of future payments related to this guaamnd Company could be
required to make as of June 30, 2004 is $14.5anillThese three buildings are currently leasedsiogle tenant, Capital One Services,
Inc., a subsidiary of Capital One Financial Sersjdac., under leases that expire from May 2008 &och 2010
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

11. CommITMENTS AND C ONTINGENCIES - Continued

(10)

(11)

(12)

(13)

(14)

In connection with an unrelated dispositior2®8,000 square feet of property in 2003 (the “@d@ne” transaction), which was fully
leased to Capital One Services, Inc., a subsidib@apital One Financial Services, Inc., the Conypagreed to guarantee to the buyer,
over various contingency periods through Octob&92@ny rent shortfalls on certain space. Becatif@soguarantee, in accordance
with SFAS No. 66, the Company deferred $4.4 milladnhe total $8.4 million gain. The deferred pontiof the gain is recognized when
each contingency period is concluded. As a rethdtCompany recognized $1.3 million of the defeigath in 2003 and an additional
$0.1 million during the six months ended June @4 The Company’s total contingent liability of.83nillion with respect to the
guarantee is included in the deferred gain as oé B0, 2004

In December 2003, the Company sold 1.9 milliqnare feet of industrial property for $58.4 isltaa $5.0 million note receivable that
bears interest at 12.0% and a $1.7 million noteivable that bears interest at 8.0%. In additiba,Gompany agreed to guarantee, over
various contingency periods through December 2809 rent shortfalls on 16.3% of the rentable sqé@otage of the industrial
property, which is occupied by two tenants. The @any’s contingent liability with respect to such guaesnas of June 30, 2004 is ¢
million. The total gain as a result of the trangattvas $5.2 million. Because the terms of the sioéguire only interest payments to be
made by the buyer until 2005, in accordance witASNo. 66, the entire $5.2 million gain was defdramd offset against the note
receivable on the balance sheet and the cost nrgcmathod is being used for this transaction. Adoagly, once sufficient principal
amounts have been paid on the note receivableasthil note receivable balance is equal to theefgain, the gain will be
recognized as additional payments are made onates.

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP jounture, a single tenant currently leases aneehtilding under a lease scheduled to
expire June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases @&patieer buildings owned by the Company. In confiorcwith an overall restructuring
of the tenant’s leases with the Company and withjtint venture, the Company agreed to certaimgka to the lease with the joint
venture in September 2003. The modifications inelatiowing the tenant to terminate the lease onaanl, 2006, reducing the rent
obligation by 50.0% and converting the “net” lets@ “full service” lease with the tenant liable &0.0% of these costs beginning
January 1, 2006. In turn, the Company agreed tgeosate the joint venture for any economic lossesried as a result of these lease
modifications. Based on the lease guarantee agrdéethe Company recorded approximately $0.9 millmother liabilities and
recorded a deferred charge of $0.9 million in Smyser 2003. However, should new tenants occupy déleated space during the two i

a half year guarantee period, the Company’s lighilnder the guarantee would diminish. The Companyaximum potential amount of
future payments with regards to this guaranted daree 30, 2004 is $1.1 million. No recourse primris exist to enable the Company to
recover the amounts paid to the joint venture utlisrlease guarantee arrangem

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners admleloped a new office building in Des Moines, lo@a June 25, 2004, the joint
ventures financed both buildings with a $7.4 milli0-year loan from a bank. As an inducement toarih& loan at 6.3% long-term
rate, the Company and its partner agreed to miestee the vacant space and guaranteed $1.6 nali$@.8 million each with limited
recourse. As leasing improves, the obligations uttfteloan agreement diminish. As of June 30, 26 Company recorded $1.3
million in other liabilities and $1.3 million asdeferred charge on its Consolidated Balance Shigetr@spect to this guarantee. The
maximum potential amount of future payments that@ompany could be required to make based on thhertueases in place is
approximately $4.8 million. The likelihood of the@@pany paying on its $0.8 million guarantee is rergince the master lease
payments provide the required 1.3 debt coverage aatl should the Company have to pay, it wouldvecthe $0.8 million from other
joint venture asset

As more fully described in Note 2, in connenotvith the formation of HIW-KC Orlando, LLC, theo@pany agreed to guarantee rent to
the joint venture for 3,248 rentable square featrm@ncing in August 2004 and expiring in April 20Atditionally, the Company
agreed to guarantee leasing costs for approximafe2s of the joint venture’s total square footalfee Company believes its estimate
related to the leasing costs guarantee is acciHateever, if the Compar' s assumptions prove to be incorrect, future losssgoccur

Litigation

The Company is party to a variety of legal procegdiarising in the ordinary course of its busin@g® Company believes that it is

adequately covered by insurance. Accordingly, nafreuch proceedings are expected to have a masetvarse effect on the Company’s
business, financial condition or results of operadi
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

12. SEGMENT | NFORMATION

The sole business of the Company is the acquisitienelopment and operation of rental real estaipasties. The Company operates
office, industrial and retail properties and apamitunits. There are no material inter-segmentsaations.

The Company’s chief operating decision maker (“CDsesses and measures operating results basedroperty level net operatil
income. The operating results for the individuaeds within each property type have been aggregated the CDM evaluates operating
results and allocates resources on a property-tyyepty basis within the various property types.

All operations are within the United States anduate 30, 2004, no tenant of the Company’s whollpedvproperties, which includes in-
service properties (excluding apartment units) hictv the Company has title and 100.0% ownershiptsigcomprises more than 10.0% of the
respective consolidated revenues. The followin¢etabmmarizes the rental income, net operatingnmand assets for each reportable
segment for the three and six months ended Jur208d, and 2003 (in thousands):

Three Months Ended Six Months Ended
June 30, June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003

Rental and Other Revenues (1)

Office segmen $100,11( $105,22: $ 202,08: $ 211,94

Industrial segmer 8,69: 10,921 17,10: 21,017

Retail segmer 9,32¢ 9,73: 18,79¢ 19,46:

Apartment segmel 35% 33¢ 693 683
Total Rental and Other Revenue: $118,48. $126,22. $ 238,67! $ 253,10¢
Net Operating Income (1):

Office segmen $ 62,75¢ $ 66,517 $ 125,76( $ 135,30!

Industrial segmer 6,69¢ 8,77: 13,15( 16,72¢

Retail segmer 6,46¢ 6,80¢ 12,84: 13,67¢

Apartment segmel 13¢ 14¢ 267 28¢
Total Net Operating Income $ 76,05¢ $ 82,23¢ $ 152,02¢ $ 165,99°
Reconciliation to (loss)/income before dispositionf property, co-venture expense,

minority interest and equity of unconsolidated affliates:

Depreciation and amortizatic $(34,41) $(35,739) $ (70,160 $ (71,860)

Interest expens (29,727  (35,35) (62,772 (71,290

General and administrative expel (7,869 (6,960 (18,536 (11,637

Interest and other incon 1,482 1,881 3,23¢ 3,051

Loss on debt extinguishme (12,457 — (12,457 (14,657
(Loss)/Income before disposition of property, co-vgure expense, minority interest

and equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliate: $ 6919 $ 6,061 $ (8,669 $ (381)
June 30,
2004 2003

Total Assets:

Office segmen $2,604,15. $2,887,41.

Industrial segmer 267,85: 352,09:

Retail segmer 264,89¢ 298,22:

Apartment segmel 14,157 13,91:

Corporate and othe 181,60t 170,29¢
Total Assets $3,332,66. $3,721,93.

(1) Net of discontinued operatior
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HIGHWOODS PROPERTIES, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continu ed)

13. OTHER E VENTS
Retirement of Chief Executive Officer

As previously announced, the Company’s Chief Exgeudfficer retired on June 30, 2004. In connectioth his retirement, the
Company'’s Board of Directors approved a retirenpartkage for him that included a lump-sum cash paynaecelerated vesting of stock
options and restricted stock, extended lives aflstiptions and continued coverage under the Comp&galth and life insurance plan for
three years at the Company’s expense. Under GAfchanges to existing stock options and restrigteck give rise to new measurement
dates and revised compensation computations. Thlectmst recognized for the six months ended Jn&@04 was $4.6 million, comprisec
a $2.2 million cash payment, $0.6 million relatedstock options, $1.7 million related to restrictddires and about $0.1 million for continued
insurance coverage. Certain components of thieere@int package were required to be recognized e @oard’s approval date, which was
in the first quarter, while other components werguired to be amortized from that date until hiseJ80, 2004 retirement date. Accordingly,
$3.2 million was expensed in the first quarter #relremaining $1.4 million was expensed in the sdaqarter.

14, SUBSEQUENT E VENTS
Mortgages and Notes Payable

In August 2004, the Company further amended itsolRévg Loan and two bank term loans. The changetueed the effects of
accounting for three sales transactions as fingraid/or profit-sharing arrangements under SFAS@8drom the calculations used to
compute financial covenants, adjusted one finamzaénant and temporarily adjusted a second fimhgovenant until the earlier of
December 31, 2004 or the period when the Compamyazzord income from the anticipated settlemera ofaim against WorldCom - see
below.

In October 2004, the Company obtained a waiver filmenenders of the CompasyRevolving Loan and two bank term loans for cal
covenant violations caused by the effects of tlss tn debt extinguishment from the MOPPRS trarmaati early 2003.

The aforementioned modifications did not changeettenomic terms of the loans. In connection wigssthmodifications, the Company
incurred certain loan costs that are capitalizetlamortized over the remaining term of the loans.

Dispositions
In November 2004, the Company sold Highwoods Bussigark in Charlotte, North Carolina for gross peats of $9.5 million. This

park consists of nine buildings encompassing apprately 162,700 square feet that was, on averad)d% occupied. In addition, in October
2004, the Company sold 20.0 acres of non-coreilak@nsas City for gross proceeds of $5.5 million.

On November 23, 2004, the Company sold a 165,008redoot building located in Orlando, Florida withnet book value of
approximately $9.7 million. Net proceeds from taéesvere approximately $6.4 million. The buildind dot meet the criteria to be classified
as held for the sale until November 2004 and &salt, the Company will recognize an impairmens lotapproximately $3.3 million in
November 2004

WorldCom/MCI Settlement

On July 21, 2002, WorldCom filed a voluntary petitiwith the United States Bankruptcy Court seekeligf under Chapter 11 of the
United States Bankruptcy Code. In connection withkankruptcy filing, WorldCom rejected leases wlitt Company encompassing 819,
square feet including the entire 816,000 squareHighwoods Preserve office campus in Tampa, Féoriche Company submitted
bankruptcy claims against WorldCom aggregating $2dillion related to these rejected leases andrattaters. WorldCom emerged from
bankruptcy (now MCI, Inc.) on April 20, 2004. On gust 27, 2004, the Company and various MCI subsédiaand affiliates (the “MCI
Entities”) executed a settlement agreement. Theesgent provided that the MCI Entities will pay tbempany approximately $8.6 million in
cash and also transfer to it approximately 340 £lfres of new MCI, Inc. stock. The Company recetteds8.6 million cash payment and
the MCI, Inc. stock in September 2004. The Compsotgt the stock for net proceeds of approximatel $Billion, and will record the full
settlement of approximately $14.4 million as Otheaome in the third quarter of 2004.
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ITEM 2. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjiorctvith all of the financial statements appeartggwhere in the report and is based
primarily on the Consolidated Financial Statemefitdie Company.

D ISCLOSURE R EGARDING F ORWARD - LOOKING S TATEMENTS

Some of the information in this Quarterly ReportForm 10-Q may contain forward-looking stateme8tsch statements include, in
particular, statements about our plans, strategidsprospects under this section and under thargedusiness.” You can identify forward-
looking statements by our use of forward-lookingri@ology such as “may,” “will,” “expect,” “anticigte,” “estimate,” “continue” or other
similar words. Although we believe that our plaingentions and expectations reflected in or suggeby such forwardboking statements a
reasonable, we cannot assure you that our plaesitions or expectations will be achieved. Whersatgring such forward-looking
statements, you should keep in mind the followmgartant factors that could cause our actual resoltiffer materially from those
contained in any forward-looking statement:

. speculative development activity by our compesitoa our existing markets could result in an esoassupply of office,
industrial and retail properties relative to tend@mand

. the financial condition of our tenants could deteate;

. we may not be able to complete development, adguisireinvestment, disposition or joint ventur@jpcts as quickly or on
favorable terms as anticipate

. we may not be able to lease or release space guickin as favorable terms as old lea:

. an unexpected increase in interest rates woulé#aser our debt service cos

. we may not be able to continue to meet our -term liquidity requirements on favorable terr
. we could lose key executive officers; €

. our southeastern and midwestern markets may sadfditional declines in economic grow

” o ” o«

This list of risks and uncertainties, however, a$ imtended to be exhaustive. You should also vevie cautionary statements we make
in “Business — Risk Factors” set forth in our 2@08ended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Given these uncertainties, we caution you notagg@undue reliance on forward-looking statemenes.uMtlertake no obligation to
publicly release the results of any revisions &sthforward-looking statements that may be madefliect any future events or circumstances
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated event

O VERVIEW

We are a fully integrated, self-administered REi&ttprovides leasing, management, developmenttremtion and other customer-
related services for our properties and for thimdips. As of June 30, 2004, we own or have amdsteén 527 in-service office, industrial and
retail properties encompassing approximately 4lilkom square feet. We also own 1,252 acres of tgraent land which is suitable to
develop approximately 14.6 million rentable squaet of office, industrial and retail space. We based in Raleigh, North Carolina, and our
properties and development land are located inddpfGeorgia, lowa, Kansas, Maryland, Missouri, tNd@2arolina, South Carolina,
Tennessee and Virginia.
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Property Information

The following table sets forth certain informatierth respect to our Wholly Owned Properties and adewrelopment properties

(excluding apartment units) as of June 30, 20042003:

June 30, 2004

June 30, 2003

Percent Percent
Rentable Leased/ Rentable Leased/
Square Feet Pre-Leasec Square Feet Pre-Leasec
In-Service:
Office (1) 25,272,00 79.2%  25,052,00! 80.5%
Industrial 7,992,001 88.( 10,243,00 88.7%
Retail (2) 1,411,00! 93.4 1,527,001 96.8%
Total 34,675,00 81.6% 36,822,00! 83.4%
Development:
Completec—Not Stabilized (3)
Office (1) — — 140,00( 30.(%
Industrial — — 60,00( 50.(%
Total — — 200,00( 36.(%
In Process
Office (1) 222,00( 100.(% — —
Industrial 350,00( 100.C — —
Total 572,00( 100.(% — —
Total:
Office (1) 25,494,00 25,192,00!
Industrial 8,342,001 10,303,00:
Retail (2) 1,411,00! 1,527,001
Total 35,247,00 37,022,00

(1) Substantially all of our Office properties are ltazhin suburban market
(2) Excludes basement space in the Country Club Plegzepy of 418,000 square fe
(3) Not stabilized is generally defined as less tha¥ @&cupied or a year from completic
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The following tables set forth scheduled leaseratipins at our Wholly Owned Properties as of June2804, assuming no tenant
exercises renewal options.

Office Propetrties:

Percentage of Average
Leased Annual :ner:ﬁglri];g(;
Square Footagt Rental Rate Rental Revenus
Rentable
Square Feet Represented by Annualized Pigcs)ﬁfl:)?re Represented b
S;(%ﬁﬁgo Expiring Leases Sﬁgg ERf;ﬁzg' Expirations Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (six months(3) 1,186,761 55% $ 2153. $ 18.1¢ 6.2%
2005 3,202,68! 16.1 59,56: 18.6( 16.¢
2006 3,229,08: 16.1 59,67¢ 18.4¢ 17.1
2007 2,037,84. 10.z 34,55( 16.9¢ 9.9
2008 3,119,62 15.€ 50,311 16.13 14.4
2009 2,536,75! 125 40,01: 15.71 11.4
2010 1,416,85. 7.1 28,891 20.4( 8.3
2011 1,195,62 6.C 21,94¢ 18.3¢ 6.3
2012 649,38t 3.2 12,70¢ 19.5] 3.€
2013 507,19¢ 2.5 7,92¢ 15.6: 2.3
Thereatftel 923,69 4.€ 12,74¢ 13.8( 3.€
20,005,51 100.(% $ 349,86 $ 17.4¢ 100.(%
Industrial Properties:
g peceno
Annualized Rental Rate Rental Revenut
Rentable Percentage of Rental Revenur
Square Feet Leased Pigcs)tqf%?re Represented b
Subject to Square Footag Under Expiring o
Elipiiring ReL}:jJresented b; o Expirations Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (six months(4) 765,30: 10.%  $ 3,71f $ 4.8t 11.5%
2005 1,803,41. 25.€ 7,75¢ 4.3C 23.t
2006 948,62: 13.t 4,82¢ 5.0¢ 14.€
2007 1,843,38. 26.1 8,17¢ 4.44 24.¢
2008 324,69¢ 4.€ 1,77(C 5.4t 54
2009 526,82¢ 7.5 3,24t 6.1¢€ 9.¢
2010 104,57( 1.t 514 4.92 1.€
2011 152,74 2.2 64: 4.21 2.C
2012 109,84( 1.€ 323 2.94 1.C
2013 102,38 1.t 61€ 6.0z 1.9
Thereatftel 348,45( 5.C 1,30z 3.74 4.C
7,030,23: 100.(% $ 32,88¢ $ 4.6¢ 100.(%

(1) Includes effects of any early renewals exercisetebgnts on or before June 30, 2C

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is June 2004 rental tev@ipase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 177,000 square feet of leases that aeseranth to month basis or 0.7% of total annualize@nue

(4) Includes 91,000 square feet of leases that arenoongh to month basis or 0.2% of total annualizacgnue
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Retail Properties:

Average

Annual Percent of
Percentage of ReviiRae  Anualzed
(
S(?L?z:rt:?:l;t Sauare Footag Annualized Ple::)cs)ﬁfl:)?re Represented b
Subjgct to Represented b Rental Revenur Expirations -
Expiring Under Expiring Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (six months(3) 47,59( 3.€% $ 921 $ 19.3¢ 2.1%
2005 116,60( 8.8 2,98: 25.57 8.7
2006 89,91¢ 6.8 2,24¢ 25.0( 6.€
2007 74,09t 5.€ 2,06¢ 27.91 6.1
2008 128,75¢ 9.8 3,85( 29.9( 11.:
2009 170,00° 12.¢ 3,83¢ 22.5¢ 11.2
2010 65,72: 5.C 2,211 33.6¢4 6.5
2011 53,83: 4.1 1,78¢ 33.1¢ 5.2
2012 115,85 8.8 3,11« 26.8¢ 9.1
2013 129,05: 9.8 3,29( 25.4¢ 9.€
Thereafte 326,93t 24.¢ 7,81z 23.8¢ 23.C
1,318,36 100.(% $ 34,11¢ $ 25.8¢ 100.(%
Total:
Average
f Annual Anmualized
Perfggi%e ° Rental Rate Rental Revenut
(
S(?L?z:rt:?:l;t Sauare Footag Annualized Ple::)cs)ﬁfl:)?re Represented b
Subjg_ct to Represented b Rental Revenur Expirations -
Expiring Under Expiring Expiring
Lease Expiring (1) Leases Expiring Leases Leases (2) Leases (2)
($ in thousands)
2004 (six months(4) 1,999,65. 7.1% $ 26,16¢ $ 13.0¢ 6.3%
2005 5,122,69! 18.1 70,30: 13.72 17.C
2006 4,267,62. 15.1 66,75( 15.6¢4 16.C
2007 3,955,32 13.¢ 44,79¢ 11.3¢ 10.7
2008 3,573,08: 12.¢ 55,93 15.6¢ 13.4
2009 3,233,59 11.4 47,09: 14.5¢ 11.z
2010 1,587,14. 5.€ 31,62 19.92 7.€
2011 1,402,20. 4.S 24,374 17.3¢ 5.8
2012 875,08! 3.1 16,14¢ 18.4¢ 3.9
2013 738,63( 2.€ 11,83: 16.02 2.8
Thereafte 1,599,08! 5.€ 21,86( 13.61 5.2
28,354,11 100.(% $ 416,87- $ 14.7( 100.(%

(1) Includes effects of any early renewals exercisetebgnts on or before June 30, 2C

(2) Annualized Rental Revenue is June 2004 rental tev@pase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
(3) Includes 19,000 square feet of leases that arenoongh to month basis or 0.1% of total annualizagnue

(4) Includes 287,000 square feet of leases that asernanth to month basis or 0.9% of total annualize@nue

Capital Recycling Program

Our strategy has been to focus our real estateitaetiin markets where we believe our extensiwal&nowledge gives us a competit
advantage over other real estate developers andtope Through our capital recycling program, veeeyally seek to:

. engage in the development of office and indulstrigjects in our existing geographic markets, iy in suburban business
parks;
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. acquire selective suburban office and induspriaperties in our existing geographic markets eggrbelow replacement cost
that offer attractive returns; al

. selectively dispose of n-core properties or other properties in order totheenet proceeds for investments or other purp

Our capital recycling activities benefit from oochl market presence and knowledge. Our divisifinars have significant real estate
experience in their respective markets. Based isrettperience, we believe that we are in a betisitipn to evaluate capital recycling
opportunities than many of our competitors. In &ddj our relationships with our tenants and thesents at properties for which we conc
third-party fee-based services may lead to devedopiprojects when these tenants seek new space.

The following summarizes the change in our Whollyr@d Properties:

Six Months Endec

Year Ended
June 30, 2004 December 31, 20C
Office, Industrial and Retail Properties
(rentable square feet in thousan

Dispositions (492) (3,299
Contributions to Joint Venture (2,270 (297)
Developments Placed-Service 141 191
Redevelopment — (227)

Acquisitions (including 1,319 from a joint venture2003 and 1,358
from two joint ventures in 200« 1,35¢ 1,42¢
Net Change of Ir-Service Wholly Owned Properties (269) (2,190

Customer Information

The following table sets forth information concegithe 20 largest customers of our Wholly OwnedErites as of June 30, 2004 ($ in
thousands):

Average

qu;ge;:lee Annualized Pe;%?]rlljta(ﬁlegtal Remaining Leas

Customer Rental Revenue (1 Rental Revenue(1 Term in Years
($ in thousands)

Federal Governmel 752,15! $ 15,71« 3.71% 6.7
AT&T 516,03: 9,82¢ 2.3¢€ 5.1
PricewaterhouseCoope 297,79! 7,31z 1.7t 6.3
State of Georgi 359,56 6,86¢ 1.6% 5.2
Sara Lee 1,195,38. 4,67% 1.12 3.6
IBM 194,93« 4,10¢ 0.9¢ 2.2
Northern Telecon 246,00( 3,651 0.8¢ 4.2
Volvo 270,77: 3,50z 0.84 5.5
Lockton Companie 132,71 3,30z 0.7¢ 11.2
US Airways(2) 295,04t 3,24¢ 0.7¢ 4.C
BB&T 229,45¢ 3,20¢€ 0.77 7.7
T-Mobile USA 120,56: 3,04« 0.7z 2.t
ITC Deltacom(3) 147,37¢ 2,981 0.7z 14
Bank of Americe 145,19: 2,90¢ 0.7C 5.2
WorldCom and Affiliates 144,62: 2,851 0.6¢ 2.5
Ford Motor Compan 125,98 2,721 0.6t 6.1
CHS Professional Servic 155,40: 2,622 0.65 2.9
IKON 181,36: 2,53¢ 0.61 3.8
Hartford Insuranci 112,75: 2,45¢ 0.5¢ 2.8
Carlton Fields 95,77: 2,412 0.5¢ 0.t
Total 5,718,89: $ 89,94 21.5¢%0 5.C

(1) Annualized Rental Revenue is June 2004 rental tev@pase rent plus operating expense-throughs) multiplied by 12
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(2) In August 2002, US Airways filed voluntary gains for reorganization under Chapter 11 of theBd®kruptcy Code. US Airways
emerged from Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection imad2003. On September 12, 2004, US Airways agksd foluntary petitions for
reorganization under Chapter 11. No action has baem today with respect to the Comg’s leases with US Airway

(3) ITC Deltacom (formerly Business Telecom) isdtexl in a property that, as of June 30, 2004, deunontract for sale. Although no
assurances can be made, the sale is expectedseicl@ate 2004 or early 20C

Results of Operations

During the three months ended June 30, 2004, appadely 84.5% of our rental revenue was derivedfaur office properties. As a
result, while we own and operate a limited numbendustrial and retail properties, our operatiegults depend heavily on successfully
leasing our office properties. Furthermore, sinasnof our office properties are located in Flori@&orgia and North Carolina, employment
growth in those states is and will continue to bénaportant determinative factor in predicting duture operating results.

The key components affecting our revenue streamaaege occupancy and rental rates. During thespasral years, as the average
occupancy of our portfolio has decreased, our ganmgerty rental revenue has declined. Average amueypgenerally increases during times
of improving economic growth, as our ability todeaspace outpaces vacancies that occur upon tirateoqs of existing leases, while
average occupancy generally declines during tinistower economic growth, when new vacancies temaltpace our ability to lease space.
Asset acquisitions and dispositions also impactental revenues and could impact our average acayp depending upon the occupancy
percentage of the properties that are acquiredldr s

Whether or not our rental revenue tracks averagapancy proportionally depends upon whether rendieunew leases are higher or
lower than the rents under the previous leasesaVleage straigHined rate per square foot on new leases signddgltire six months end:
June 30, 2004 in our Wholly Owned Properties wa%0ower than the average rate per square fodi@expired leases. A further indicator
of the predictability of future revenues is the exfed lease expirations of our portfolio. Our agerauburban office lease term, excluding
renewal periods is 4.5 years. Leases that willrexgiiring the last six months of 2004 and whichehawt been renewed, approximate 2.0
million square feet of space. This square footageasents approximately 6.3% of our annualizedmaeeAs of September 30, 2004, based
on our leasing efforts since December 31, 2003cemoither activity such as early lease terminatitins occupancy rate for our Wholly
Owned Properties improved to 83.2%. As a resuldddition to seeking to increase our average octnyphy leasing current vacant space
also must concentrate our leasing efforts on remg\¥gases on expiring space. For more informagganrding our lease expirations, see
“Properties — Lease Expirations.”

Our expenses primarily consist of depreciation amartization, general and administrative expenssgal property expenses and
interest expense. Depreciation and amortizati@rien-cash expense associated with the ownershgabproperty and generally remains
relatively consistent each year, unless we buyelbassets, since we depreciate our propertiesstramht-line basis. General and
administrative expenses, net of amounts capitaretiexcluding retirement compensation, consisbgrily of management and employee
salaries and other personnel costs, corporate eadrind longerm incentive compensation. Rental property expgnse expenses associs
with our ownership and operating of rental progartind include variable expenses, such as comreamaintenance and utilities, and fixed
expenses, such as property taxes and insurance &dmese variable expenses may be lower as @nag& occupancy declines, while the
fixed expenses remain constant regardless of aerecupancy. Interest expense depends upon thendiwfoour borrowings, the weighted
average interest rates on our debt and the amapitatized on development projects.

We also record income from our investments in usobdated affiliates, which are our joint ventusesept for one joint venture, whi
is included in our Consolidated Financial Stateraesta result of our continuing involvement with firoperties — see Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. We record iniitggn earnings of unconsolidated affiliateslir proportionate share of the unconsolid
joint venture’ net income or loss. During the first two quarter@04, income earned from our unconsolidated jeamttures aggregated $:
million which represented approximately 27.4% off tmial net income.
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Additionally, Statement of Financial Accounting Sdards (“SFAS”) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impaient or Disposal of Long-
Lived Assets” requires us to record net incomeiveckfrom properties sold or held for sale sepdyaie “income from discontinued
operations.” As a result, we separately recordmege and expenses from these properties. Duringjtimonths ended June 30, 2004,
income, including gains and losses from the safgaberties, from discontinued operations, whigiresented approximately 1.7% of our
total net income.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We incur capital expenditures to lease space t@astomers and to maintain the quality of our prieg to successfully compete
against other properties. Tenant improvementsheredsts required to customize the space for theifspneeds of the customer. Lease
commissions are costs incurred to find space frctistomer. Building improvements are recurringteaposts not related to a customer to
maintain the buildings. As leases expire, we eigiEmpt to relet the space to an existing custamattract a new customer to occupy the
space. Generally, customer renewals require logasihg capital than reletting to a new customewéi@r, market conditions such as supply
of available space on the market, as well as derfargpace, drive not only customer rental ratesatso tenant improvement costs. Leasing
capital expenditures are amortized over the terth@fease and building improvements are deprat@ter the appropriate useful life of the
assets acquired. Both are included in depreciatimhamortization in results of operations.

Because we are a REIT, we are required under trerdbtax laws to distribute at least 90.0% of RET taxable income to our
stockholders. We generally use rents received frostomers to fund our operating expenses, recucapgal expenditures, debt securities,
guarantee obligations and stockholder dividendsufid property acquisitions, development activitybailding renovations, we incur debt
from time to time. As of June 30, 2004, we had apipnately $0.8 billion of secured debt outstandimgl $0.8 billion of unsecured debt
outstanding. Our debt consists of mortgage delsieeured debt securities and borrowings under cb@.$2million revolving loan (the
“Revolving Loan”). As of November 18, 2004, we h&#7.8 million of additional borrowing availabiliynder our Revolving Loan and our
short-term cash needs for the remainder of 2002808 include, among other things, the funding@#$nillion in development activity and
$208.4 million in principal payments due on ourdeterm debt.

Our Revolving Loan and the indenture governingautstanding long-term unsecured debt securitiel esgquire us to satisfy various
operating and financial covenants and performaates. As a result, to ensure that we do not wolhé provisions of these debt instruments,
we may from time to time be limited in undertakiceytain activities that may otherwise be in thet rggrest of our stockholders, such as
repurchasing capital stock, acquiring additionak#s increasing the total amount of our debtnoreasing stockholder dividends. We review
our current and expected operating results, firdmandition and planned strategic actions on ayomny basis for the purpose of monitoring
our continued compliance with these covenants atids. While we are currently in compliance witlesk covenants and ratios and expect to
remain so for the foreseeable future, we cannatigecany assurance of such continued complianceaapdailure to remain in compliance
could result in an acceleration of some or allaf debt, severely restrict our ability to incur @ahal debt to fund short- and long-term cash
needs, or result in higher interest expense. SéesNiband 14 to the Consolidated Financial Stat&sifendisclosure regarding a waiver of
and amendments to these covenants.

To generate additional capital to fund our growtHd ather strategic initiatives and to lessen thaerahip risks typically associated w
owning 100.0% of a property, we may sell some afpyoperties or contribute them to joint ventul&en we create a joint venture with a
strategic partner, we usually contribute one orermoperties that we own and/or vacant land toveynformed entity in which we retain an
interest of 50.0% or less. In exchange for our queninority interest in the joint venture, we geally receive cash from the partner and
retain all of the management income relating topttoperties in the joint venture. The joint ventitself will frequently borrow money on its
own behalf to finance the acquisition of and/omrl@age the return upon the properties being acqbiyate joint venture or to build or acquire
additional buildings, typically on a naecourse or limited recourse basis. We generadiynat liable for the debts of our joint ventures;epi
to the extent of our equity investment, unless aeehdirectly guaranteed any of that debt. In mases, we and/or our strategic partners are
required to guarantee customary exceptions to aoaurse liability in non-recourse loans. See Ndt¢olthe Consolidated Financial
Statements for additional information on certaibtdguarantees.

We have historically also sold additional Commooc&tor Preferred Stock, or issued Common Unitaitmlfadditional growth or to
reduce our debt, but we have limited those effdutsng the past five years because funds genefiatadour capital recycling program in
recent years have provided sufficient funds. Initimtl we used funds from our capital recyclingépurchase Common Stock in 2003, 2002
and 2001 and Preferred Stock in 2001.
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Management’s Analysis

We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) arkeOFper share are beneficial to management andtorgesnd are important
indicators of the performance of any equity REI€cBuse FFO and FFO per share calculations excloffefactors as depreciation and
amortization or real estate assets and gains sesdsom sales of operating real estate assetst{wean vary among owners of identical assets
in similar condition based on historical cost agtting and useful life estimates), they facilitatenparisons of operating performance
between periods and between other REITs. Our mamagiebelieves that historical cost accounting éal estate assets in accordance with
U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GRA implicitly assumes that the value of real estadsets diminishes predictably over
time. Since real estate values instead have hisityirisen or fallen with market conditions, mangustry investors and analysts have
considered the presentation of operating resutteefal estate companies that use historical castuating to be insufficient by themselves.
a result, management believes that the use of FIEJ-BO per share, together with the required GAA#3gntations, provides a more
complete understanding of the Compangérformance relative to its competitors and aenimfiormed and appropriate basis on which to n
decisions involving operating, financing and inwegtactivities. See “Funds From Operations.”
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R ESULTS oF O PERATIONS

On January 1, 2002, we adopted SFAS No. 144. Axithesl in Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Stants, we reclassified the
operations and/or gain/(loss) from disposal ofaiarproperties to discontinued operations for atigds presented if the operations and cash
flows have been or will be eliminated from our oimgpoperations and we will not have any significamhtinuing involvement in the
operations after the disposal transaction and thpesties were either sold during 2003 and 2004are held for sale at June 30, 2004.
Accordingly, properties sold during 2003 and 20k did not meet certain conditions as stipulate@BAS No. 144 were not reclassified to
discontinued operations.

Three Months Ended June 30, 2004

The following table sets forth information regargliour results of operations for the three montidednJune 30, 2004 and 2003 ($ in
millions):

Three Months Ended June 30,

% of

2004 2003 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 118t $ 1262 $ (7.7) (6.1)%
Operating expenses
Rental property and other expen 42.4 44.C (1.6 (3.6)
Depreciation and amortizatic 34.4 35.7 .39 (3.6)
General and administratiy 7.8 7.C 0.8 12.¢
Total operating expens 84.7 86.7 (2.0 (2.3
Interest expense
Contractua 27.4 30.2 (2.9 (9.6)
Amortization of deferred financing cos 0.¢ 0.¢ — —
Financing obligation 14 4.2 (2.9 (66.7)
29.7 35.2 (5.7 (16.7)
Other income/expense
Interest and other incon i1.g 1.¢ (0.4 (21.7)
Loss on debt extinguishme (12.5) — (12.5y 100.C
(11.0 1.¢ (12.9 (678.9
(Loss)/income before disposition of property, coenture expense, minority interes
and equity in earnings of unconcolidated affiliates (6.9 6.C (12.9 (215.0
Gains on disposition of property, r 14.4 1.€ 12.¢ 800.(
Cao-venture expens — (2.2 2.2 (100.0
Minority interest in the Operating Partners (0.2) 0.1 (0.2) (200.0
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 1kt 14 0.1 7.1
Income from continuing operations 8.¢ 6.S 2.C 29.C
Discontinued operation:
(Loss)/income from discontinued operations, nehafority interes! — 0.¢ (0.9) (200.0
(Loss)/gain on sale of discontinued operationsphetinority interes (3.5 0.¢ (4.4 (488.9
(3.5 1.8 (5.39) (294,
Net income 5.4 8.7 3.3 (37.9
Dividends on preferred shar (7.7) (7.7) — —
Net (loss attributable to)/income available for cormon stockholders $ 23 % 1. $ (3.3 (330.0%

Rental and Other Revenues

The decrease in rental and other revenmoes ¢ontinuing operations was primarily the restithe disposition of certain properties in
2003 and 2004 that were not included in discontinygerations, which negatively impacted rental atter revenues by approximately $5.2
million; a slight decrease in average occupanagsrat our Wholly Owned Properties from 83.1% far three months ended June 30, 2003 to
82.8% for the three months ended June 30, 200d¢redse of approximately $0.5 million in lease teation fees received in the three
months ended June 30, 2004; a decrease of apprekyn$d.7 million in recovery income from certaipesating expenses in the three months
ended June 30, 2004; and a decrease in si-line rental income as a result of a $0.8 milliosewe established in June 2004 related tc



bankruptcy of US Airways.
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During the three months ended June 30, 2004, 25ihdegeneration leases representing 2.2 milliomsgfeet of office, industrial and
retail space were executed in our Wholly Owned Bridgs. The average rate per square foot on a G#esis over the lease term for these
leases was 0.2% higher than the rent paid by pusvéastomers.

As of the date of this filing, we are beginningste a modest improvement in employment trenddemwaf our markets and an
improving economic climate in the Southeast. Thee been modest positive absorption of office spao@ost of our markets during the last
five quarters. Accordingly, we expect our occuparatg to increase modestly during the remaind@06#.

Operating Expenses

The decrease in rental and other operating expérsaontinuing operations (real estate taxeéfiat, insurance, repairs and
maintenance and other property-related expensesaply resulted from the disposition of certairoperties in 2003 and 2004 that were not
included in discontinued operations, which posl{ivienpacted rental operating expenses by approxaty&tl.3 million offset by general
inflationary increases, particularly salaries, Basgutility costs, real estate taxes and insueaawed the fact that certain fixed operating
expenses do not vary with net changes in our ocmyppercentages, such as real estate taxes, iwguaan utility rate changes.

Rental and other operating expenses as a percesftagietal and other revenues increased from 34@%ne three months ended June
30, 2003 to 35.8% for the three months ended JAn2@4. The increase was a result of decreagesial and other operating expenses as
described above offset by a larger proportionatesse in rental and other revenues as describeabov

Excluding the effects of property acquisitions @pesitions, we expect rental and other operatkpgeses to increase slightly in the
remainder of 2004 due to inflationary increases@lwith increases in certain fixed operating expsrthat do not vary with occupancy.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization ftominuing operations is primarily related to thepwsition of certain properties sold
in 2003 and 2004 which were not included in distargd operations, which positively impacted degten and amortization by
approximately $1.3 million; a decrease of approxehe$1.5 million in leasing commissions and tenamrovement amortization; and a
decrease of approximately $0.6 million in leasinghmissions and tenant improvement write-offs inttiree months ended June 30, 2004.

The increase in general and administrative expgmsesrily relates to $1.4 million recognized imeection with a retirement package
for our Chief Executive Officer, as described int&l@3 to the Consolidated Financial Statementshadollowing: (1) increased costs of
personnel and consultants in connection with imgleting the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the restatenfahedCompanys financial statement
(2) higher longterm incentive compensation costs, (3) a decreagerieral and administrative expenses in 2003 fettement of a litigatio
matter, and (4) higher salary, fringe benefit angplyee relocation costs. These increases werky péfidet by a decrease in compensation
expense in 2004 related to dividend equivalenttsigitached to option shares granted to certaioutixe officers in 1997. The Company
accounts for the option shares using variable attuy as provided by FASB Interpretation No. 44 tAanting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation”.

In the remainder of 2004, general and administeagixpenses are expected to significantly increasgared to 2003 due to inflatione
increases in compensation, benefits and other eggarlated to the implementation of the Sarbanésy@\ct, professional fees and other
costs related to consideration of a strategic &etinen that were incurred largely in the third gaa2004, and professional fees and other «
related to the restatement of the Company'’s firarstatements.

I nterest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest was primdtily to a decrease in average interest rates oraodiisg debt from 6.72% in the three
months ended June 30, 2003 to 6.35% in the threghe@nded June 30, 2004, primarily due to a ddlitancing completed in December
2003 and a decrease in average borrowings fromisllich in the three months ended June 30, 200BLt@ billion in the three months ended
June 30, 2004. These decreases were
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partly offset by slightly lower capitalized intetéis 2004 compared to 2003 due to lower averagstoaction and development costs and a
decrease in compensation recognized in 2004 refateertain deferred compensation programs.

The decrease in interest expense on financing aidigs was primarily a result of the purchase ofgartner’s interest in the Orlando
City Group properties in MG-HIW, LLC in March 20@vhich eliminated interest on the $62.5 million firting obligation. (See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation on real estate sales that are accounteakffinancing transactions).

Total interest expense is expected to declineanrémainder of 2004 primarily due to (1) the DecentD03 refinancing of certain long-
term debt with new borrowings that have lower iegtrrates, and (2) the June 2004 refinancing oPthlieOption Notes with borrowings on
Company’s Revolving Loan which currently has lowiteating rate interest. Certain of these transastiare discussed in the footnotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. This decline beaglightly offset by any increases in average datances resulting from acquisitions or
other activities.

Other Income/Expense

The increase in interest and other income is pilynaglated to the interest received during thethmonths ended June 30, 2004 related
to a note receivable acquired in connection withdlsposition of certain properties in 2003, arghbr interest rates earned on cash reserves.

The increase in loss on debt extinguishment waseglto the $12.5 million loss recorded in 2004tes to the retirement of the Put
Option Notes as described in Note 5 to the Conatdiil Financial Statements.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Co-Venture Expense; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

In the three months ended June 30, 2004, gaingposition of properties was comprised of a $16lHaninet gain related primarily to
the disposition of approximately 1.3 million squéeet of office properties contributed to the HIWGKOrlando, LLC in June 2004, as
discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Finandategents. Offsetting this gain was a $1.8 millimpairment loss on 27.0 acres of land,
which is discussed further in Note 4 to the Comlsdkd Financial Statements. In the three monthsdeddne 30, 2003, gain on disposition of
properties was comprised of a $0.2 million net galated primarily to the disposition of a nomiaahount of square feet of office properties
that did not meet certain conditions to be clasdifis discontinued operations and a $1.1 million ga the disposition of 4.0 acres of land
discussed in Note 6 to the Consolidated Finand&teents.

Co-venture expense relates to the operations dfitaeHIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group properties whigvere accounted for as a
profit-sharing arrangement until July 2003. Therdase in co-venture expense is due to our aceuniti our partner’s interest in the non-
Orlando City Group properties in July 2003 andrgsultant elimination of recording co-venture exgeeas of that date.

Minority interest in the continuing operations b&tOperating Partnership, after preferred partigrshit distributions, decreased from
$0.1 million in the three months ended June 3032605(0.1) million in the three months ended J8®e2004 due to a corresponding
decrease in the Operating Partnership’s income fromtinuing operations.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedost of $3.5 million, net of minority interest, discontinued operations for the three
months ended June 30, 2004. For the three monttedelune 30, 2003, we classified net income of Silll&n, net of minority interest, as
discontinued operations. These amounts pertaing®tmillion square feet of property, four apartingnits and 122.8 acres of revenue-
producing land sold during 2004 and 2003 and OlRamisquare feet of property and 88 apartmentsunéld for sale at June 30, 2004. These
amounts include (losses)/gains on the sale of theggerties, net of impairment charges relatedgoahtinued operations, of $(3.5) million
and $0.9 million, net of minority interest, in tteee months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, resggcti
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Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $7.7 million in preferred stock dividsiin each of the three months ended June 30, 2092003.

Net Income

We recorded net income in the three months endee 30, 2004 of $5.4 million, which was a 37.9% dase from net income of $8.7
million in the three months ended June 30, 2002. ddécrease was primarily due to the dispositioredain properties in 2004 and 2003, a
decrease in average occupancy rates from 20030, 2@creases in general and administrative costdass on early extinguishment of debt
as described above. These amounts were offsew®y iental property expenses, depreciation and #@raton expense, interest expense and
co-venture expense and an increase in gains oondiigm of property as described above. In the rede of 2004, we expect net income to
be lower as compared with 2003 due to slighthngsaverage occupancy, pressure on GAAP rental, fsitgser depreciation and
amortization, higher property operating costs, laigther general and administrative costs (inclugingfessional fees and other costs relate
consideration of a strategic transaction and psidesl fees and other costs related to the restateaf the Company’s financial statements)
which amounts should be offset by lower interegtegise and settlement of the Company’s bankruptigncigainst WorldCom as more fully
described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Finargfatements.
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Six Months Ended June 30, 2004

The following table sets forth information regamgliour results of operations for the six months entlene 30, 2004 and 2003 ($ in
millions):

Six Months Ended June 30,

% of

2004 2003 $ Change Change
Rental and other revenues $ 2387 $ 2531 $ (149 (5.0)%
Operating expenses:
Rental property and other expen 86.€ 87.1 (0.5 (0.6)
Depreciation and amortizatic 70.2 71.¢ 1.7 (2.9
General and administratiy 18.t 11.€ 6.S 59t
Total operating expens 175.2 170.€ 4.7 2.8
Interest expense:
Contractua 54.¢ 60.5 (5.9 (9.9
Amortization of deferred financing cos 2.1 1.8 0.2 16.7
Financing obligation 6.1 9.C (2.9 (32.2)
62.€ 71.% (8.5 (11.9
Other income/expense
Interest and other incon 3.2 31 0.1 3.2
Loss on debt extinguishme (12.5) (24.9) 2.2 (15.0
9.9 (11.¢ 2.3 (19.9)
Loss before disposition of property, co-venture exgnse, minority interest and
equity in earnings of unconsolidated affiliates (8.7) (0.9 (8.9 2,075.(
Gains on disposition of property, r 15.t 2.4 13.1 545.¢
Cao-venture expens — (4.2 4.2 (100.0
Minority interest in the Operating Partners 0.t 1.7 (1.2 (70.€)
Equity in earnings of unconsolidated affilia 2.8 2.5 0.4 16.C
Income from continuing operations 10.2 2.C 8.2 410.C
Discontinued operation:
Income from discontinued operations, net of miryoriteresi 0.1 1.7 (1.6) (94.7)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations, net ofomitiy interest — 0.6 (0.€ (100.0
0.1 2.€ (2.5 (96.2)
Net income 10.: 4.€ 5.7 123.¢
Dividends on preferred shar (15.9) (15.9 — —
Net loss attributable to common stockholders $ GBI $ (10 $ 57 (52.%

Rental and Other Revenues

The decrease in rental and other revenues fronincimg operations was primarily the result of thepdsition of certain properties in
2003 and 2004 that were not included in discontinygerations, which negatively impacted rental nexs by approximately $10.5 million
slight decrease in average occupancy rates in dwlWOwned Properties from 82.5% for the six manéimded June 30, 2003 to 82.2% for
the six months ended June 30, 2004; a decreagpahamately $0.5 million in lease termination feeseived in the six months ended June
30, 2004; a decrease of approximately $2.0 mililorecovery income from certain operating expemséke six months ended June 30, 2004;
and a decrease in straight-line rental incomerasut of a $0.8 million reserve established ineJ2004 related to the bankruptcy of US
Airways.

During the six months ended June 30, 2004, 501nskgeneration leases representing 4.1 million sgfeset of office, industrial and
retail space were executed in our Wholly Owned Bridgs. The average rate per square foot on a Gl#esis over the lease term for these
leases was only 0.3 % lower than the rent paidrbyipus customers.
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As of the date of this filing, we are beginningsge a modest improvement in employment trenddemaf our markets and an
improving economic climate in the Southeast. There been modest positive absorption of office spao@ost of our markets during the last
five quarters. Accordingly, we expect our occuparatg to increase modestly during the remaind@06#.

Operating Expenses

The decrease in rental and other operating expdérsascontinuing operations (real estate taxedifia, insurance, repairs and
maintenance and other property-related expensesaply resulted from the disposition of certairoperties in 2003 and 2004 that were not
included in discontinued operations, which posl{iviepacted rental operating expenses by approxaty&?2.7 million, offset by general
inflationary increases, particularly salaries, H#sgeutility costs, real estate taxes and insuesawed the fact that certain fixed operating
expenses do not vary with net changes in our ocayppercentages, such as real estate taxes, ilwguaan utility rate changes.

Rental and other operating expenses as a percesftagigtal and other revenues increased from 34ot%he six months ended June 30,
2003 to 36.3% for the six months ended June 304.208e increase was a result of decreases in remtbbther operating expenses as
described above offset by a larger proportionatesse in rental and other revenues as describeabov

Excluding the effects of property acquisitions @pesitions, we expect rental and other operatkpgeses to increase slightly in the
remainder of 2004 due to inflationary increases@lwith increases in certain fixed operating expsrbat do not vary with occupancy.

The decrease in depreciation and amortization frominuing operations is primarily related to thepdsition of certain properties sold
in 2003 and 2004 which were not included in distcargd operations, which positively impacted demten and amortization by
approximately $1.0 million; a decrease in leasiojmissions and tenant improvement amortization;aadédcrease in leasing commissions
and tenant improvement write-offs in the six morghded June 30, 2004.

The increase in general and administrative expgmsesrily relates to $4.6 million recognized imeection with a retirement package
for our Chief Executive Officer, as described int&l@3 to the Consolidated Financial Statementghadbllowing: (1) increased costs of
personnel and consultants in connection with imgleting the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the restatenfahedCompanys financial statement
(2) higher longterm incentive compensation costs, (3) a decreageneral and administrative expenses in 2003 fettement of a litigatio
matter, and (4) higher salary, fringe benefit amplyee relocation costs. These increases werly péfidet by a decrease in compensation
expense in 2004 related to dividend equivalenttsigitached to option shares granted to certaioutixe officers in 1997. The Company
accounts for the option shares using variable attuy as provided by FASB Interpretation No. 44 tAanting for Certain Transactions
Involving Stock Compensation”.

In the remainder of 2004, general and administeagixpenses are expected to significantly increasgared to 2003 due to inflatione
increases in compensation, benefits and other eggarlated to the implementation of the Sarbangsy@\ct, professional fees and other
costs related to consideration of a strategic &etien that were incurred largely in the third gga2004, and professional fees and other «
related to the restatement of the Company'’s firarstatements.

I nterest Expense

The decrease in contractual interest expense viragily due to a decrease in average interest mtasitstanding debt from 6.7% in
the six months ended June 30, 2003 to 6.3% initheaenths ended June 30, 2004, primarily due telat definancing completed in Decem
2003 and a decrease in average borrowings fromillicdh in the six months ended June 30, 20031 $illion in the six months ended
June 30, 2004. These decreases were partly offssdightly lower capitalized interest in 2004 comgxto 2003 due to lower average
construction and development costs.

The decrease in interest expense on financing aidigs was primarily a result of the purchase ofgartner’s interest in the Orlando
City Group properties in MG-HIW, LLC in March 20@vhich eliminated interest on the $62.5 million fiting obligation. (See Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionfrimation on real estate sales that are accounteakffinancing transactions).
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Total interest expense is expected to declineérréimainder of 2004 primarily due to (1) the DecenfD03 refinancing of certain long-
term debt with new borrowings that have lower iegtrates, and (2) the June 2004 refinancing oPtlieOption Notes with borrowings on
Company’s Revolving Loan which currently has lowiteating rate interest. Certain of these transastiare discussed in the footnotes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. This decline beaglightly offset by any increases in average dakances resulting from acquisitions or
other activities.

Other Income/Expense

The increase in interest and other income is pilynaglated to the interest received during theraonths ended June 30, 2004 relate
a note receivable acquired in connection with tispasition of certain properties in 2003 and highésrest rates earned on cash reserves.

In the six months ended June 30, 2004, a $12.%omilbss was recorded related to the retiremetti@Put Option Notes described in
Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statementthdrsix months ended June 30, 2003, a $14.7 midiss was recorded related to retiren
of the MOPPRS debt as described in Note 5 to thes@l@lated Financial Statements.

Gains on Disposition of Property; Co-Venture Expense; Minority I nterest; Equity in Earnings of Unconsolidated Affiliates

In the six months ended June 30, 2004, gain orodispn of properties was comprised of a $16.2iotilnet gain related primarily to
the disposition of approximately 1.3 million squéget of office properties contributed to the HIWGKOrlando, LLC in June 2004, as
discussed in Note 2 to the Consolidated Finandategents. Offsetting this gain was a $1.8 millimpairment loss on 27.0 acres of land,
which is discussed further in Note 4 to the Comsdkd Financial Statements. In the six months eddad 30, 2003, gain on disposition of
properties was comprised of a $0.2 million net galated primarily to the disposition of a nomiaahount of square feet of office properties
that did not meet certain conditions to be clasdifis discontinued operations and a $1.1 million ga the disposition of 4.0 acres of land
discussed in Note 6 to the Consolidated Financatefents.

Co-venture expense relates to the operations dfitaeHIW, LLC non-Orlando City Group properties whigvere accounted for as a
profit-sharing arrangement until July 2003.

Minority interest in the continuing operations b&tOperating Partnership, after preferred partigrstit distributions, decreased from
$1.7 million in the six months ended June 30, 2@080.5 million in the six months ended June 3@40ue to a corresponding decrease in
the Operating Partnership’s income from continwopgrations.

Discontinued Operations

In accordance with SFAS No. 144, we classifiedimetme of $0.1 million and $2.6 million, net of ronity interest, as discontinued
operations for the six months ended June 30, 2864803, respectively. These amounts pertaine®tenillion square feet of property, four
apartment units and 122.8 acres of revemaeiucing land sold during 2004 and 2003 and OlRamisquare feet of property and 88 apartn
units held for sale at June 30, 2004. These amancitede (losses)/gains on the sale of these ptiesenet of impairment charges related to
discontinued operations, of $0.0 million and $0ifiom, net of minority interest, in the six monteaded June 30, 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Preferred Stock Dividends
We recorded $15.4 million in preferred stock divide in each of the six months ended June 30, 2002@03.
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Net Income

We recorded net income in the six months ended 30n2004 of $10.3 million, which was a 123.9% &age from net income of $4.6
million in the six months ended June 30, 2003. iflcecase is primarily due to lower rental propertpenses, depreciation and amortization
expense, interest expense and co-venture expedsmancrease in gains on disposition of propdrhese increases were partly offset by
decreases due to disposition of certain propeirti@®04 and 2003, a decrease in average occupates/from 2003 to 2004, increases in
general and administrative costs and loss on eatlgguishment of debt as described above. Inghwimder of 2004, we expect net income
to be lower as compared with 2003 due to slighling average occupancy, pressure on GAAP rentias rhigher depreciation and
amortization, higher property operating costs, laigther general and administrative costs (inclugimgfessional fees and other costs relate
consideration of a strategic transaction and psidesl fees and other costs related to the restateaf the Company’s financial statements)
which amounts should be offset by lower interegtegise and settlement of the Company’s bankruptigncigainst WorldCom as more fully
described in Note 14 to the Consolidated Finargiatements.
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L 1QuiDiITY AND C APITAL R ESOURCES

Statement of Cash Flows

As required by GAAP, we report and analyze our dbsirs based on operating activities, investingwvitéés and financing activities.
The following table sets forth the changes in tlen@any’s cash flows from the first six months 003Qo the first six months of 2004 ($ in
thousands):

Six Months Ended June 30,

2004 2003 Change
Cash Provided By Operating Activiti $ 75,77¢ $ 78,45¢ $ (2,687)
Cash Provided By/(Used In) Investing Activiti 26,19t (18,53¢) 44,73
Cash Used In Financing Activitie (111,85() (58,249 (53,607)
Total Cash Flow: $ (9,879 $ 1,674 $(11,559)

In calculating cash flow from operating activiti€&AAP requires us to add depreciation and amoitizatvhich are non-cash expenses,
back to net income. As a result, we have histdsiggnerated a significant positive amount of ciasm operating activities. From period to
period, cash flow from operations depends primarggn changes in our net income, as discussed fulreinder “Results of Operations,”
changes in receivables and payables, and net@uklivir decreases in our overall portfolio, whideefthe amount of depreciation and
amortization expense.

Cash provided by or used in investing activitiesagally relates to capitalized costs incurred éasing and major building
improvements, and our acquisition, developmenfation and joint venture activity. During perioafssignificant net acquisition and/or
development activity, our cash used in such inmgsdictivities will generally exceed cash providgdrivesting activities, which typically
would consist of cash received upon the sale gigntées or distributions from our joint ventures.

Cash used in financing activities generally relatestockholder dividends, incurrence and repayrmédebt and sales or repurchases of
common stock and preferred stock. As discussedqursly, we use a significant amount of our casfuta stockholder dividends. Whethel
not we incur significant new debt during a periegpends generally upon the net effect of our adipisidisposition, development and joint
venture activity. We use our Revolving Loan for Wiog capital purposes, which means that duringgiwngn period, in order to minimize
interest expense associated with balances outstandider the Revolving Loan, we will likely recaiginificant repayments and borrowings
under the Revolving Loan.

The decrease of $2.7 million in cash provided bgrafing activities was primarily a result of lowest income due to the disposition of
certain properties in 2004 and 2003, a decreaaearage occupancy rates for our wholly-owned pbotind an increase in general and
administrative expenses. In addition, the levaietfcash provided by operating activities is a#ddby the timing of receipt of revenues and
payment of expenses.

The increase of $44.7 million in cash used in itimgsactivities was primarily a result of an incsean proceeds from disposition of real
estate assets of approximately $54.1 million, partiset by an increase of $6.0 million in addisdio real estate assets and an increase o
million in contributions to unconsolidated affiles.

Cash used in financing activities was $111.9 millfor the six months ended June 30, 2004 and csesthin financing activities was
$58.2 million for the six months ended June 30,20Mhe increase of $53.6 million was primarily aulk of an increase in $84.3 in net
repayments on the unsecured Revolving Loan, moegagd notes payable and financing obligations iftirease in cash used in financing
activities was offset by a decrease of $10.0 mmlliodistributions paid on Common Stock and Comrdoits and a $16.6 million decrease in
the repurchase of Common Stock and Common Un29@4.

In 2004, we expect to continue our capital recyrfimogram of selectively disposing of non-core grtips or other properties in order
to use the net proceeds for investments or othgroses. At June 30, 2004, we had 0.4 million sqtestof properties, 88 apartment units
and 145.4 acres of land classified as held forgateuant to SFAS No. 144 with a carrying valu&@®.0 million. These transactions are
subject to customary closing conditions, includilge diligence and documentation, and are expeactelb$e during the remainder of 2004.
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However, we can provide no assurance that all ttrassactions will be consummated. As of SepterBbe2004, we have closed on some of
these transactions consisting of 0.1 million sqdiee¢ of properties and 55.8 acres of land.

During the remainder of 2004, we expect to havétipescash flows from operating activities. The nash flows from investing
activities in the remainder of 2004 could be pwgsitr negative, depending on the level and timingroperty dispositions, property
acquisitions, development and capitalized leasimjimprovement costs. Any positive cash flows froperating and investing activities in
the remainder of 2004 are expected to be usedytstpakholder and unitholder distributions, reqdidebt amortization, and recurring capital
expenditures.

Capitalization
The following table sets forth our capitalizationaf June 30, 2004 and December 31, 2003 (in timoigs@xcept per share amounts):

December 31

June 30,
2004 2003
Mortgages and notes payable, at recorded book $1,603,48° $1,717,76!
Financing obligation $ 63,345 $ 124,06
Preferred stock, at redemption va $ 377,44¢ $ 377,44
Common Stock and Units outstandi 59,86: 59,67:
Per share stock price at period ¢ $ 2350 $ 254
Market value of common equi 1,406,75 1,515,79!
Total market capitalization with de $3,451,03. $3,735,06!

Based on our total market capitalization of appreately $3.4 billion at June 30, 2004 (at the June2B04 per share stock price of
$23.50 and assuming the redemption for shares win@m Stock of the 6.1 million Common Units in thpeBating Partnership not owned by
the Company), our mortgages and notes payableseqexd approximately 46.5% of our total market tedipation.

Mortgages and notes payable at June 30, 2004 wagrized of $0.8 billion of secured indebtednesé witveighted average interest
rate of 6.9% and $0.8 billion of unsecured indeb&sd with a weighted average interest rate of 5Aaf June 30, 2004, our outstanding
mortgages and notes payable were secured by ta# @ssets with an aggregate carrying value abappately $1.4 billion.

We do not intend to reserve funds to retire exigiacured or unsecured debt upon maturity. Forra emmplete discussion of our long-
term liquidity needs, see “Liquidity and Capitalderces - Current and Future Cash Needs.”
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The following table sets forth a summary regarding known contractual obligations at June 30, 20®4housands):

Payments Due By Period

Through
Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
Fixed Rate Debt: (1)
Unsecured
Notes $ 460000 $ — $ — $110,000 $ - $100,00( $250,00(
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab(2) 771,54( 6,562 81,44, 17,217 81,62¢ 14,34 570,34¢
Total Fixed Rate Det 1,231,541 6,562 81,447 127,21 81,62¢ 114,34 820,34¢
Variable Rate Debt:
Unsecured:
Term Loan 120,00( — 120,00( — — — —
Revolving Loar 197,00( — — 197,00( — — —
Secured:
Mortgage Loans Payab(2) 54,94t 144 28¢ 51,34« 3,16¢ — —
Total Variable Rate Del 371,94! 144  120,28¢ 248,34 3,16¢ — —
Total Lon¢-Term Debt 1,603,48! 6,70¢ 201,73¢ 375,55  84,79¢ 114,34 820,34¢
Operating Lease Obligations:
Land Lease 47,76: 63E 1,272 1,21z 1,191 1,19¢ 42,25¢
Purchase Obligations:
Completion Contract(3) 7,83¢ 7,82% 10 — — — —
Other Long-Term Liabilities Reflected on the Balane
Sheet:
Plaza Colonade Debt Repayment Guara(3) 2,46¢ — — 2,46¢ — — —
Plaza Colonnade Completion Guarar(3) 37¢€ — — 37¢€ — — —
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP Lease
Guarante«(3) 85¢ — — — — 85E —
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC Lease Guarant(3) 4,73( 34 83 92 97 97 4,32
RRHWoods, LLC and Dallas County Partners Lt
Guarante«(3) 1,29( — — — — — 1,29(
Capital One Lease Guarani(4) 2,96¢ 1,56¢ — 334 36¢ 37¢ 321
Industrial Portfolio Lease Guarant(4) 2,08¢ 592 991 50€ — — —
Eastshore Financing Obligati(5) 28,88( — — 28,88( — — —
SF-HIW Harborview Financing Obligatio(5) 13,83: — — — — — 13,83:
Tax Increment Financing Obligati¢(6) 20,63 687 77E 863 91: 97€ 16,41¢
DLF Note Payabli(7) 3,191 98 21¢€ 25( 28¢ 32t 2,01¢
Total $1,740,39( $18,13¢ $205,08! $410,53¢ $87,65( $118,16¢ $900,81(

(1) The Operating Partnership’s unsecured not&60.0 million bear interest at rates ranging fid@P6 to 8.125% with interest payable
semi-annually in arrears. Any premium and discaat#ted to the issuance of the unsecured notethiemeith other issuance costs is
being amortized over the life of the respectiveesats an adjustment to interest expense. All ofitisecured notes are redeemable at
any time prior to maturity at our option, subjeztertain conditions including the payment of makesle amounts. Our fixed rate
mortgage loans generally are either locked outépgyment for all or a portion of their term, oe @re-payable subject to certain
conditions including prepayment penalti

(2) The mortgage loans payable were secured byestale assets with an aggregate carrying valapgrbximately $1.4 billion at June 30,
2004.

(3) See Note 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther discussiol

(4) These liabilities represent gains that weredetfl in accordance with SFAS No. 66 when we dudé properties to a third party. We
defer gains on sales of real estate up to our maximxposure to contingent loss. See Note 11 t€tresolidated Financial Statemer

(5) These liabilities represent our financing oétign to either our partner in the respective joimture or the third party buyer as a result
of accounting for these transactions as financimangements. See Note 3 to the Consolidated FiabBtatement:
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(6) In connection with Tax Increment Financing éonstruction of a public garage related to an efficilding constructed by us, we are
obligated to pay fixed special assessments overyear period. The net present value of these sisgerds, discounted at 6.93%, is
shown as a Financing Obligation in the balancetshée also receive special tax revenues and prppeextrebates which are intended,
but not guaranteed, to provide funds to pay theiapassessment

(7) Represents a fixed obligation which we owe mantner in Highwoods DLF 98/29, LP. This amountsarérom an excess contribution
from our partner at the formation of the joint vanet

Refinancings in 2004

In 1997, a trust formed by the Operating Partnershid $100.0 million of Exercisable Put Option @#tes due June 15, 2004 (“X-
POS"). The assets of the trust consisted of, anotimgr things, $100.0 million of Exercisable Put iOptNotes due June 15, 2011 (the “Put
Option Notes”), issued by the Operating Partnershiig Put Option Notes bore an interest rate d3%.1from the date of issuance through
June 15, 2004. In connection with the initial isst@of the Put Option Notes, a counter party wastgd an option to purchase the Put Of
Notes from the trust on June 15, 2004 at 100.0%eprincipal amount. The counter party exerciségslaption and acquired the Put Opt
Notes on June 15, 2004. On that same date, the &vomgxercised its option to acquire the Put Optiotes from the counter party fol
purchase price equal to the sum of the presenéwalthe remaining scheduled payments of prinapal interest (assuming an interest rate of
6.39%) on the Put Option Notes, or $112.3 millibhe difference between the $112.3 million and th@d0 million was charged to loss on
extinguishment of debt in the quarter ended Jun@@®4. The Company borrowed funds from its Rev@\ioan to make the $112.3 million
payment.

In late June 2004, we repaid $51.0 million of theréased borrowing under our Revolving Loan witbcpeds from the sale of a 60.0%
interest in five office buildings in Orlando, Flda and from the sale of a building at HighwoodsEmnee in Tampa, Florida. See Notes 2 a
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for furtiegails of these asset sales.

Operating and Financial Covenants and Performance Btios

The terms of the Revolving Loan, the $120 milliank term loans and the indentures that govern otstanding notes require us to
comply with certain operating and financial covetsaand performance ratios. We are currently in d@npe with all such requirements.
Although we expect to remain in compliance with tegenants and ratios under our Revolving Loantemk term loans for the foreseeable
future, depending upon our future operating perforoe and property and financing transactions, waagaassure you that we will continue
to be in compliance.

If we fail to comply with these financial ratioscinther covenants, we would likely not be abledardw any further amounts under the
Revolving Loan, which could adversely affect ouiligbto fund our operations, and our lenders coatdelerate any debt outstanding under
our Revolving Loan, bank tern loans or our indeatlfrour debt cannot be paid, refinanced or exaéerat maturity, in addition to our failure
to repay our debt, we may not be able to makeilligions to stockholders at expected levels otlaFarthermore, if any refinancing is done
at higher interest rates, the increased intergstrese could adversely affect our cash flows anlityati make distributions to stockholders.
Any such refinancing could also impose tighter fiicial ratios and other covenants that could restrc ability to take actions that could
otherwise be in our stockholders’ best interesthsas funding new development activity, making opgstic acquisitions, repurchasing our
securities or paying distributions.

The following table sets forth more detailed infation about our ratio and covenant compliance utfteRevolving Loan and the ba
term loans, which have identical covenants, assgithia new Revolving Loan had been in effect at Rhe2004. If we fail to satisfy any of
the covenants detailed in the table below (inclgdhre covenants regarding non-GAAP financial mezssuch as EBITDA, Cash Available
for Distributions (“CAD”) and adjusted NOI) aftena expiration of certain cure periods, the lend@er our Revolving Loan, our bank term
loans and/or the construction loan in Kansas GityJolonnade could accelerate amounts outstanderg uunder, which aggregated $341.9
million at June 30, 2004. Certain of these defimi§ may differ from similar terms used in the acpanying Consolidated Financial
Statements and may, for example, consider our ptiopate share of investments in unconsolidateitiaffs. For a more detailed discussion
of the covenants in our Revolving Loan, includirgfinitions of certain relevant terms, see the ¢ragieement governing our Revolving L
which is attached as Exhibit 10.14.
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June 30, 200
Total Liabilities Less Than or Equal to 57.5% oftdlcAssets 53.(%
Unencumbered Assets Greater Than or Equal to Ztismsecured Del 2.1¢
Secured Debt Less Than or Equal to 35% of Totakts 27.%%
Adjusted EBITDA Greater Than 2.05 times Interespénse 2.11
Adjusted EBITDA Greater Than 1.50 times Fixed Clea 1.54
Adjusted NOI Unencumbered assets Greater Thant@n2s Interest on Unsecured Di 2.4¢
Tangible Net Worth Greater Than $1.577 Billi $ 1.5¢ billion
Restricted Payments, including distributions torshalders, Less Than or Equal to 95% of C 66.5%

In June 2004, the Company amended its Revolving lawal two bank term loans. The changes excludefitAe million charge taken
related to the refinancing of the Put Option Ndtem the calculations used to compute financiales@ants.

In August 2004, the Company further amended itsolRévg Loan and two bank term loans. The changetueed the effects of
accounting for three sales transactions as fingnairprofit sharing arrangements under SFAS Ndr&@® the calculations used to compute
financial covenants, adjusted one financial covenad temporarily adjusted a second financial caménntil the earlier of December 31,
2004 or the period when the Company can recordiecivom the anticipated settlement of a claim agfaidorldCom - see Note 14 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In early October 2004, the Company obtained a wdioen the lenders of the Company’s Revolving Laad two bank term loans for
certain covenant violations caused by the effetthmloss on debt extinguishment from the MOPPRS8staction in early 2003.

The aforementioned modifications did not changesitenomic terms of the loans. In connection wigtsthmodifications, the Company
incurred certain loan costs that are capitalizetlamortized over the remaining term of the loans.

The Revolving Loan carries an interest rate bagexah its senior unsecured credit ratings. As a teisitérest currently accrues on
borrowings under the Revolving Loan at LIBOR pl@% basis points. The terms of the Revolving Loajuiie the Company to pay an ann
base facility fee equal to .25% of the aggregatewarhof the Revolving Loan. The Company currentig  credit rating of BBBassigned b
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch Inc. In August 2003,0dy's Investor Service downgraded its assigneditcrating from Baa3 to Bal. If
Standard and Poor’s or Fitch Inc. were to lowerGoenpany'’s credit ratings without a correspondimyéase by Moodg, the interest rate ¢
borrowings under the Company’s Revolving Loan wduddautomatically increased by 60 basis points.

Current and Future Cash Needs

Historically, rental revenue has been the princgmalrce of funds to meet our short-term liquidéguirements, which primarily consist
of operating expenses, debt service, stockholdédetids, any guarantee obligations and recurripgtadeexpenditures. In addition, we could
incur tenant improvements and lease commissioasegtto any releasing of space at the Highwoodselfre campus vacated by WorldCom.

In addition to the requirements discussed aboveshart-term (through the end of 2004) liquiditguéerements also include the funding
of approximately $9.4 million of our existing despment activity (as of the date of this filing) afirdt generation tenant improvements and
lease commissions on properties placed in-sergeare not fully leased. We expect to fund ourrtstesm liquidity requirements through a
combination of working capital, cash flows from ogttons and some or all of the following:

* borrowings under our unsecured Revolving Loan (Witas up to $77.8 million of availability as of Newuber 18, 2004
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» the selective disposition of n-core assets or other ass:

» the sale or contribution of some of our Wholly @ad Properties, development projects and developlaed to strategic joint
ventures to be formed with unrelated investorscihwill have the net effect of generating additiorepital through such sale or
contributions;

» the issuance of secured debt (at November 184,200 had approximately $2.2 billion of unencumbeneal estate assets at cost) ;
and

» the issuance of new unsecured d

Our long-term liquidity needs generally include thading of existing and future development acyivételective asset acquisitions and
the retirement of mortgage debt, amounts outstgnainder the Revolving Loan and long-term unsecdedat. Our goal is to maintain a
flexible capital structure. Accordingly, we expéztimeet our long-term liquidity needs through a baration of (1) the issuance by the
Operating Partnership of additional unsecured deburities, (2) the issuance of additional equétyusities by the Company and the
Operating Partnership as well as (3) the sourcssrithed above with respect to our shiertm liquidity. We expect to use such sources tet
our long-term liquidity requirements either throutjhect payments or repayment of borrowings underunsecured Revolving Loan. As
mentioned above, we do not intend to reserve ftmdstire existing secured or unsecured indebtesdnpsn maturity. Instead, we will seek
refinance such debt at maturity or retire such thetotugh the issuance of equity or debt securities.

We anticipate that our available cash and cashvatgiits and cash flows from operating activitieghwash available from borrowings
and other sources, will be adequate to meet outatamd liquidity needs in both the short and ldagn. However, if these sources of funds
are insufficient or unavailable, our ability to pdiyidends to stockholders and satisfy other cagents may be adversely affected.
Stockholder Dividends

To maintain our qualification as a REIT, we mustdbute to stockholders at least 90.0% of our Rtakiable income. REIT taxable
income, the calculation of which is determined by tederal tax laws, does not necessarily equahnetme under GAAP. We generally
expect to use our cash flow from operating actsifior dividends to stockholders and for paymemeofirring capital expenditures. Future
dividends will be made at the discretion of our Bbaf Directors. The following factors will affeour cash flows and, accordingly, influence
the decisions of our Board of Directors regardingdgnds:

» debt service requirements after taking into accoebt covenants and the repayment and restructafiogrtain indebtednes
» scheduled increases in base rents of existingde

» changes in rents attributable to the renewal dftang leases or replacement lea:

» changes in occupancy rates at existing propertidse&ecution of leases for newly acquired or dgwetioproperties; an

» operating expenses and capital replacement newdisding tenant improvements and leasing ct
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Company has several off balance sheet joirtuvemnd guarantee arrangements. The joint ventuees formed with unrelated
investors to generate additional capital to funapprty acquisitions, repay outstanding debt or fatir strategic initiatives and to lessen the
ownership risks typically associated with ownin@ I of a property. When we create a joint ventwith a strategic partner, we usually
contribute one or more properties that we own tewaly formed entity in which we retain an intere660.0% or less. In exchange for an
equal or minority interest in the joint venture, generally receive cash from the partner and rétermanagement income relating to the
properties in the joint venture. For financial repa purposes, the sales of assets we sold t@boer joint ventures is accounted for as a
financing arrangement.

At June 30, 2004, our unconsolidated joint ventiwas $830.3 million of total assets and $578.4iamlbf total liabilities. Our weighte
average equity interest based on total asseteséthinconsolidated joint ventures was 40.4%. Duhiagsix months ended June 30, 2004,
these unconsolidated joint ventures earned $6 l6omibf total net income of which our share was8$aillion. For additional discussion of
our unconsolidated joint ventures, see Note 2 éQbnsolidated Financial Statements.

As required by GAAP, we use the equity method ebaating for our unconsolidated joint ventures imiein we exercise significant
influence but do not control the major operating &énancial policies of the entity regarding encuaribg the entities with debt and the
acquisition and disposal of properties. As a resit assets and liabilities of these joint verdue not included on our balance sheet and the
results of operations of these joint ventures aténtluded on our income statement, other thaggagty in earnings of unconsolidated
affiliates. Generally, we are not liable for théotieof our joint ventures, except to the extendwf equity investment, unless we have directly
guaranteed any of that debt. In most cases, we@aadr strategic partners are required to guaracustmary limited exceptions to non-
recourse liability in non-recourse loans.

As of June 30, 2004, our unconsolidated joint vezinad $557.6 million of outstanding debt. Théofeing table sets forth the
principal payments due on that outstanding longitéebt as recorded on the respective joint vergureoks at June 30, 2004 ($in
thousands):

Percent
Owned Remainder
Total of 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter

Board of Trade Investment Compa 49.0% $  65¢ $ 93 $ 19¢ $ 21t $ 152 $§ — & —
Dallas County Partne(1) 50.0(% 41,22¢ 514 1,10¢ 4,487 13,40¢ 5,84: 15,87:
Dallas County Partners (1) 50.00% 21,85¢ 63€ 1,37F 1,522 1,68¢ 1,86: 14,77¢
Fountain Thre(1) 50.00% 29,37¢ 561 1,17 1,24z 1,31¢ 6,40( 18,68’
RRHWoods, LLC(1) 50.00% 69,92:¢ 20¢ 46€ 50C 4,31z 45¢ 63,97
4600 Madison Associates, | 12.5(% 16,37: 361 762 81t 87:2 93t 12,62t
Highwoods DLF 98/29, LI 22.81% 66,73: 52¢ 1,107 1,18¢ 1,26¢ 1,35¢ 61,29(
Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, L 42.99% 58,67 364 77C 831 897 96¢ 54,84¢
Highwood:«-Markel Associates, LL( 50.00% 39,75( 30¢ 643 682 722 76€ 36,62¢
Concourse Center Associates, L 50.00(% 9,60¢ 89 18¢ 20z 217 232 8,67¢
Plaza Colonnade, LL! 50.0(% 43,63: — — — 43,63: — —
Highwoods KC Glenridge, LL¢ 40.0(% 16,75( — — 25C — 13€ 16,36¢
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC 40.0% 143,00( — — — 1,02 2,540 139,44(
Total $557,5642) $ 3,661 $7,79C $11,93: $69,50( $21,49¢ $443,18:

(1) Des Moines joint venture

(2) All of this joint venture debt is non-recouttseus except (1) in the case of customary except@ntaining to such matters as misuse of
funds, environmental conditions and material misgepntations and (2) those guarantees and loaosh#skin the following
paragraphs

In connection with the Des Moines joint ventures, guaranteed certain debt, and the maximum potemiaunt of future payments we
could be required to make under the guaranteez5d $nillion. Of this amount, $8.6 million aroserfin housing revenue bonds that require
credit enhancements in addition to the real estattgages. The bonds bear a floating interest wdigh currently averages 1.08% and
mature in 2015. Guarantees of $9.5 million will gpupon two industrial buildings becoming 93.8% &5.0% leased or when the related
loans mature. As of June 30, 2004, these buildiveye 93.2% and 75.0% leased, respectively. Theirgmga$7.0 million in guarantees relate
to loans on four office buildings that were in tease-up phase at the time the loans
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were initiated. Each of the loans will expire by W2008. The average occupancy of the four buildatgiune 30, 2004 is 89.0%. If the joint
ventures are unable to repay the outstanding balander the loans, we will be required, under #nms of the agreements, to repay the
outstanding balance. Recourse provisions exishable us to recover some or all of our losses fifterjoint ventures’ assets and/or the other
partner. The joint ventures currently generateiciefit cash flow to cover the debt service requbgdhe loans.

In connection with the RRHWoods, LLC joint ventunas renewed our guarantee of $6.2 million to a banluly 2003; this guarantee
expires in September 2015 and may be renewed bByhesbank provides a letter of credit securing gidal revenue bonds, which mature in
2015. We would be required to perform under theapui@e should the joint venture be unable to reépayonds. We have recourse provis
in order to recover from the joint venture’s assetd the other partner for amounts paid in excéesioproportionate share. The property
collateralizing the bonds is 100.0% leased andectlyr generates sufficient cash flow to cover thbtdservice required by the bond financi

With respect to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC joint uestwe have included $2.8 million in other liatiés and adjusted the investment in
unconsolidated affiliates by $2.8 million on ourrSolidated Balance Sheet at June 30, 2004 relatiebt separate guarantees of a
construction loan agreement and a construction tetiop agreement. The construction loan maturd=imruary 2006, with two one-year
options to extend the maturity date that are camthd on completion and lease-up of the projece Trm of the construction completion
agreement requires the core and shell of the Imgjlth be completed by December 15, 2005. Currethtéybuilding is scheduled to be
completed in December 2004. Both guarantees arosethe formation of the joint venture to constrantoffice building. If the joint venture
is unable to repay the outstanding balance undecdhstruction loan agreement or complete the nget&in of the office building, we would
be required, under the terms of the agreementsptay our 50.0% share of the outstanding balanderuhe construction loan and complete
the construction of the office building. On Mardb, 2004, the Industrial Development Authority of ity of Kansas City, Missouri issued
$18.5 million in non-recourse bonds to finance puishprovements made by the joint venture for teaeddit of the Kansas City Missouri
Public Library. Since the joint venture leasesltmal for the office building from the library foB9ears, the joint venture is obligated to build
certain public improvements. The net bond proceé@i6.3 million will be used to reimburse the jouenture for its costs. As funds are
transferred from the bond fund to the construclémter, our exposure is reduced. The maximum piatearhount of future payments by us
under these agreements is $27.6 million if the tanton loan is fully funded. No recourse provisscexist that would enable us to recover
from the other partner amounts paid under the gii@ea However, given that the loan is collaterailg the building, we and our partner
could obtain and liquidate the building to recother amounts paid should we be required to perfardeuthe guarantee.

In addition to the Plaza Colonnade, LLC constructaman and completion agreement described abogeattners have collectively
provided $12.0 million in letters of credit, $6.0llion by us and $6.0 million by our partner. Wedaour partner would be held liable under
the letter of credit agreements should the joimtuee not complete construction of the buildingeTétters of credit expire in December 31,
2004. No recourse provisions exist that would emaisito recover from the other partner amounts niavder the letter of credit. The
building is nearing completion and the first tenamgxpected to take occupancy in the fourth quafte004.

In the Highwoods DLF 97/26 DLF 99/32, LP joint verd, a single tenant currently leases an entirglibgi under a lease scheduled to
expire June 30, 2008. The tenant also leases @patiger buildings owned by us. In conjunction wati overall restructuring of the tenant’s
leases with us and with this joint venture, we adr® certain changes to the lease with the jantwre in September 2003. The modificat
include allowing the tenant to terminate the lemsdanuary 1, 2006, reducing the rent obligatiod®p% and converting the “net” lease to a
“full service” lease with the tenant liable for 50.0% of thesdscbeginning January 1, 2006. In turn, we agreembtopensate the joint vent
for any economic losses incurred as a result afetease modifications. Based on the lease guaragreement, we recorded approximately
$0.9 million in other liabilities and recorded deteed charge of $0.9 million in September 2003wideer, should new tenants occupy the
vacated space during the two and a half year gtesgeriod, our liability under the guarantee walitdinish. Our maximum potential
amount of future payments with regards to this gntge as of June 30, 2004 is $1.1 million. No rem®provisions exist to enable us to
recover the amounts paid to the joint venture utlisrlease guarantee arrangement.

On February 20, 2004, we and Kapital-Consult, aopean investment firm, formed Highwoods KC GlenegdgLC, which on February
26, 2004, acquired from a third-party Glenridger®@ffice Park, consisting of two office
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buildings aggregating 185,000 square feet locatedeé Central Perimeter sub-market of Atlanta. Agume 30, 2004, the buildings were
91.0% leased. We contributed $10.0 million to tiatjventure in return for a 40.0% equity interastl Kapital-Consult contributed $14.9
million for a 60.0% equity interest in the partrtéps The joint venture entered into a $16.5 millldyear secured loan on the assets. We are
the manager and leasing agent for this propertyraceive customary management fees and leasing ssioms. The acquisition also

includes 2.9 acres of development land that caoractodate 150,000 square feet of office space.

On June 28, 2004, Kapital-Consult, a European invesst firm, bought an interest in HIW-KC Orlandd,C, an entity formed by us.
HIW-KC Orlando, LLC owns five in service office gerties, encompassing 1.3 million rentable squeeg focated in the central business
district of Orlando, Florida, which were valued endhe joint venture agreement at $212.0 millio|uding amounts related to our
guarantees described below, and which were sutniec$136.2 million secured mortgage loan. Kaptahsult contributed $42.1 million in
cash and received a 60.0% equity interest in refliia joint venture borrowed $143.0 million undegenyear fixed rate mortgage loan fror
third party lender and repaid the $136.2 millioaroWe retained a 40.0% equity interest in thet joémture and received net cash proceeds o
approximately $46.6 million, of which $33.0 milliamas used to pay down our $250.0 million revolMiman (the “Revolving Loan”) and
$13.6 million was used to pay down another of eank. In connection with this transaction, we agjteeguarantee rent to the joint venture
for 3,248 rentable square feet commencing in Aug08# and expiring in April 2011. Additionally, vegyreed to guarantee re-tenanting costs
for approximately 11.0% of the joint venture’s {atguare footage. We recorded a $4.1 million caint liability with respect to such
guarantee as of June 30, 2004 and reduced theatotaint of the gain recognized by the same amdvatbelieve our estimate related to the
re-tenanting costs guarantee is accurate. Howg\ait assumptions prove to be incorrect, futusess may occur. The contribution was
accounted for as a partial sale as defined by SRA6, and we recognized a $15.9 million gainunel2004. Since we have an ongoing
40.0% financial interest in the joint venture amite we are engaged by the joint venture to promdeagement and leasing services for the
joint venture, for which we receive customary maragnt fees and leasing commissions, the operaticthese properties will not t
reflected as discontinued operations consistefit 8#AS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment asposal of Long-Lived Assetsind the
related gain on sale was included in continuingaipens in June 2004.

RRHWOODS, LLC and Dallas County Partners each dpesl a new office building in Des Moines, lowa. fime 25, 2004, the joint
ventures financed both buildings with a $7.4 millloan from a bank. As an inducement to make the bt 6.3% long-term rate, we and our
partner agreed to master lease the vacant spagguarahteed $1.6 million or $0.8 million each withited recourse. As leasing improves,
the obligations under the loan agreement dimirshof June 30, 2004, we recorded $1.3 million imeotiabilities and $1.3 million as a
deferred charge on our Consolidated Balance Shi#etespect to this guarantee. The maximum poteatunt of future payments that we
could be required to make based on the curreneédeiasplace is approximately $4.8 million. The likeod of us paying on our $0.8 million
guarantee is remote since the master lease payprenide the required 1.3 debt coverage ratio dodilsl we have to pay, we would recover
the $0.8 million from other joint venture assets.

Financing Arrangements

The following summarizes sales transactions ttagacounted for as financing arrangements undegpahs 25 through 29 under
SFAS No. 66 at June 30, 2004.

- SF-HIW Harborview, LP

On September 11, 2002, we contributed Harborvieaz&lan office building located in Tampa, FlorigaSF-HIW Harborview Plaza,
LP (“Harborview LP”), a newly formed entity, in exange for a 20.0% limited partnership interest $8i6l.4 million in cash. We also entered
into a master lease agreement with Harborview,drRife years on the vacant space in the buildagpfoximately 20.0%) and guaranteed
payment of tenant improvements and lease commssib§il.2 million. Our maximum exposure to lossemithe master lease agreement was
$2.1 million at September 11, 2002 and was $1.Ranikt June 30, 2004. Additionally, our partneHarborview LP was granted the right to
put its 80.0% equity interest in Harborview LP ®in exchange for cash at any time during the @e-period commencing on September
11, 2014. The value of the 80.0% equity interedithvai determined at the time, if ever, that suctine elects to exercise its put right, based
upon the then fair market value of Harborview L&sets and liabilities, less 3.0%, which was inteinid cover normal costs of a sale
transaction.
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Because of the put option and master lease agréethisntransaction is accounted for as a finantiagsaction. Consequently, the
assets, liabilities and operations related to Hatibar Plaza, the property owned by Harborview Life]uding any new financing by the
partnership, remain on our books. As a result, axetestablished a financing obligation equal tongiieequity contributed by the other
partner. At the end of each reporting period, thlafice of the financing obligation is adjusteddaa the current fair value, which is $13.8
million at June 30, 2004, but not less than thgioail financing obligation. This adjustment is atimd prospectively through September
2014. Additionally, the net income from the opeyasi before depreciation of Harborview Plaza allte#d the 80.0% partner is recorded as
interest expense on financing obligations. We camito depreciate the property and record all @fdiypreciation on our books. Additionally,
any payments made under the master lease agreamespensed as incurred ($0.05 million and $0lEomiwas expensed during the six
months ended June 30, 2004 and 2003, respectiaetyany amounts paid under the tenant improvenmehtesase commission guarantee are
capitalized and amortized to expense over the mngalease term. At such time as the put optiorirespor otherwise is terminated, we will
record the transaction as a sale and recognizeogasale.

- Eastshore Transaction

On November 26, 2002, we sold three buildings tat Richmond, Virginia for a total purchase pra¢es28.5 million in cash, which
was paid in full by the buyer at closing (the “Esire” transaction). Each of the sold propertiessigle tenant building leased on a triple-
net basis to Capital One Services, Inc., a subrgidiaCapital One Financial Services, Inc.

In connection with the sale, we entered into aalegiiarantee agreement for each building for theefiieof the buyer to guarantee any
rent shortfalls which may be incurred in the paytadirent and re-tenanting costs for a five-yeaiqeefrom the date of sale (through
November 2007). Our maximum exposure to loss utfderental guarantee agreements was $18.7 miltitmeadate of sale and $14.5 milli
as of June 30, 2004. In June 2004, we began to makéehly payments to the buyer, at an annual B8 d million, as a result of the
existing tenant renewing a lease in one building latver rental rate.

These rent guarantees are a form of continuinghweweent as prescribed by SFAS No. 66. Becauseuhegtees cover the entire sp
occupied by a single tenant under a triple-netdeasangement, our guarantees are considered anged return on the buyer’s investment
for an extended period of time. Therefore, thegdaation has been accounted for as a financingactios. Accordingly, the assets and
operations are included in these Consolidated EiahBtatements, and a financing obligation of $28illion was recorded which represents
the amount received from the buyer. The income fileenoperations of the properties, other than degtien, is allocated 100.0% to the
owner as interest on financing obligation. Paymemasle under the rent guarantees are charged togxps incurred. This transaction will
recorded as a completed sale transaction in thieefuthen the maximum exposure to loss under theagtees is equal to or less than the
related gain.

-MG-HIW, LLC

As previously disclosed, on March 2, 2004, we egertour option and acquired our partner’'s 80.084rést in the Orlando City Group
of MG-HIW, LLC. At the closing of the transactiowge paid our partner, Miller Global, $62.5 milliondaa $7.5 million letter of credit
delivered to the seller in connection with the optivas cancelled. The initial contribution of thessets was accounted for as a financing
arrangement and continued to be so treated thrblagbh 1, 2004. The financing obligation was elimi@thon March 2, 2004. Since the
financing obligation was adjusted each period fa0®% leveraged internal rate of return guaramtegyain or loss was recognized upon the
extinguishment of the financing obligation.

Interest Rate Hedging Activities

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowinggler ou
Revolving Loan bears interest at variable rates.l@ng-term debt, which consists of long-term fingmgs and the unsecured issuance of debt
securities, typically bears interest at fixed ratesaddition, we have assumed fixed rate and kbieate debt in connection with acquiring
properties. Our interest rate risk management débgts to limit the impact of interest rate chasga earnings and cash flows and to lower
our
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overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objestifimm time to time we enter into interest ratddeecontracts such as collars, swaps, caps
and treasury lock agreements in order to mitigatdrterest rate risk with respect to various debtruments.

The following table sets forth information regargliour interest rate hedge contracts as of Jun2@® ($ in thousands):

Fair Market
Notional Maturity Fixed
Type of Hedge Amount Date Reference Rate Rate Value
Interest Rate Swa $20,00( 6/1/200¢ 1 month USI-LIBOR-BBA 1.59(% $ 12k
$ 12¢&

The interest rate on all of our variable rate delstdjusted at one and three month intervals, stibjesettlements under these contracts.
We also enter into treasury lock agreements frome tio time in order to limit our exposure to arr@ase in interest rates with respect to
future debt offerings. During the second quarte2@d4, only a nominal amount was received from tauparties under interest rate hedge
contracts.

Related Party Transactions

We have previously reported that we have had a&cinto acquire development land in the Bluegraakey office development project
from GAPI, Inc., a corporation controlled by an extve officer and director of the Company. On Jayul7, 2003, we acquired an additic
23.5 acres of this land from GAPI, Inc. for cash ahares of Common Stock valued at $2.3 milliorMay 2003, 4.0 acres of the remaining
acres not yet acquired by us was taken by the Gebrepartment of Transportation to develop a rogdineerchange for consideration of
$1.8 million. The Department of Transportation tgassession and title of the property in June 26@8Jart of the terms of the contract
between us and GAPI, Inc., we were entitled toptteeeeds from the condemnation of $1.8 millions k& contracted purchase price betv
us and GAPI, Inc. for the condemned property of $fillion. On September 30, 2003, as a result efdbndemnation, we received the
proceeds of $1.8 million. A related party payadié@ 7 million to GAPI, Inc. related to the condeation of the development land is incluc
in accounts payable, accrued expenses and othéitiks in our Consolidated Balance Sheet at Rhe2004.

C RITICAL A CCOUNTING E STIMATES

There were no changes to the critical accountidigips and estimates made by management in themainths ended June 30, 2004. For
a detailed description of our critical accountisgjrmates, see “Management’s Discussion and Anapfdisnancial Condition and Results of
Operations - Critical Accounting Estimates” in @003 amended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

F unDSF Rom O PERATIONS

We believe that funds from operations (“FFO”) arktOFper share are beneficial to management andtorgess important indicators of
the performance of any equity REIT. Because FFOFdd per share calculations exclude such factodepseciation and amortization or
real estate assets and gains or losses from dadpem@ting real estate assets (which can vary grmemers of identical assets in similar
condition based on historical cost accounting aseful life estimates), they facilitate comparisohgperating performance between periods
and between other REITs. Our management belieag¢historical cost accounting for real estate assehccordance with GAAP implicitly
assumes that the value of real estate assets diragpredictably over time. Since real estate gahstead have historically risen or fallen
with market conditions, many industry investors andlysts have considered the presentation of tipgneasults for real estate companies
that use historical cost accounting to be insudfitiby themselves. As a result, management beliba¢she use of FFO and FFO per share,
together with the required GAAP presentations, ey a more complete understanding of the Compargrformance relative to its
competitors and a more informed and appropriatés lmeswhich to make decisions involving operatifigancing and investing activities.

FFO and FFO per share as disclosed by other RE&snot be comparable to our calculation of FFO BR@® per share as described
below. However, you should be aware that FFO ard pér share are ndBAAP financial measure and do therefore not represet income
or net income per share as defined by GAAP. Netnmeand net
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income per share as defined by GAAP are the miestalet measures in determining our operating perémce because FFO and FFO per
share include adjustments that investors may ded#jedive, such as adding back expenses such asoilpn and amortization.
Furthermore, FFO per share does not depict the antbat accrues directly to the stockholders’ bien&tcordingly, FFO and FFO per share
should never be considered as alternatives tanetme or net income per share as indicators obperating performance.

Our calculation of FFO, which we believe is coraistwith the calculation of FFO as defined by traidhal Association of Real Estate
Investment Trusts (NAREIT) and appropriately exelsithe cost of capital improvements and relatedaleged interest is as follows:

* Netincome (loss- computed in accordance with GAA

» Plus depreciation and amortization of assets uhjcgignificant to the real estate indust

» Less gains or plus losses from sales of deprkc@ierating properties (excluding impairment Igssesee Note 2 following the
table), and items that are classified as extraarglitems under GAAF

e Plus minority interest
» Less dividends to preferred sharehold

» Plus or minus adjustments for unconsolidatedngaships and joint ventures (to reflect funds frgperations on the same basis);
and

* Plus or minus adjustments for depreciation andréimation and gain/(loss) on sale and minoritgisst related to discontinued
operations

Other REITs may not define the term in accordanitle the current NAREIT definition or may interprbe current NAREIT definition
differently than us.
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FFO and FFO per share for the three and six mamttied June 30, 2004 and 2003 are summarized foltbeing table ($ in
thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,
2004 2003 2004 2003
Per Per Per Per
Share Share Share Share
Amount Diluted Amount Diluted Amount Diluted Amount Diluted
Funds from operations:
Net income $ 5,39¢ $ 8,68 $ 10,34« $ 4,59:
Dividends to preferred sharehold (7,719 (7,719 (15,42¢) (15,42¢)
Net (loss)/income attributable to comm
shareholder (2,315  $(0.09 96 $0.0Z (5,082 $(0.09 (10,839 $(0.20)
Add/(Deduct):
Depreciation and amortization of real estate
asset: 33,72¢ 0.6  35,06¢ 0.6t 68,80( 1.27 70,527 1.32
Gain on disposition of depreciable prope(1) (16,23 (0.30) (215) — (16,159 (0.30) (239 —
Minority interest in the Operating Partnershi
in income from operatior 16€ — (65) — (527) (0.03) (1,650 (0.03)

Unconsolidated affiliates
Depreciation and amortization of real
estate asse 2,001 0.04 1,90¢ 0.04 3,98( 0.07 3,751 0.07
Discontinued operatior(2) :
Depreciation and amortization of real

estate asse 22F — 70C 0.01 50¢ 0.01 1,472 0.0z
Gain on sale, net of minority interest in
the Operating Partnersh(1) (399 (0.07) (899 (0.02) (3,835 (0.07) (1,019 (0.02)

Minority interest in the Operating
Partnership in income from

discontinued operatior 2 — 107 — 22 — 22¢ —
Funds from operations before amounts allocable
minority interest in the Operating Partners 17,17( 0.3z 37,57¢ 0.7¢ 47,713 0.8¢ 62,23¢ 1.1€
Minority interest in the Operating Partnership
in funds from operation (1,799 (0.03 (4,250 (0.0¢) (5,009 (0.09) (7,139 (0.13)

Funds from operations applicable to common
shareholder $15377 $0.2¢ $33,32¢ $0.6z $42,70¢ $0.7¢ $5509¢ $1.02

Dividend payout data:
Dividends paid per common share/common

unit — diluted $ 0.42¢ $ 0.42¢ $ 0.85( $ 1.01C
As a % of funds from operatiol m% m% m% m%
Weighted average shares outstanc- diluted m E m m
Impairment adjustments included in funds from S - - S
operations applicable to common she $ (3,457 9$(0.0) $ — $ — $(3457) $0.060 $ (28 $(0.00

(1) In October 2003, NAREIT issued a Financial Répg Alert that changed its current implementatijuidance for FFO regarding
impairment losses. Accordingly, impairment losselated to depreciable assets have now been inclnd€dO for the periods
presented

(2) For further discussion related to discontinued afi@ns, see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financ&tke8tents
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ITEM 3. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES AB OUT MARKET RISK

The effects of potential changes in interest ratesdiscussed below. Our market risk discussioludes “forward-looking statements”
and represents an estimate of possible changes walue or future earnings that would occur assgrhypothetical future movements in
interest rates. These disclosures are not prauikesitors of expected future effects, but only ¢adlbrs of reasonably possible effects. As a
result, actual future results may differ materiditym those presented. See “Management’s Discussidrnalysis of Results of Operations -
Liquidity and Capital Resources” and the notedhio@onsolidated Financial Statements for a desonif our accounting policies and other
information related to these financial instruments.

To meet in part our lonterm liquidity requirements, we borrow funds atoanbination of fixed and variable rates. Borrowinggler ou
Revolving Loan and bank term loans bear interegadable rates. Our long-term debt, which consi$tsecured and unsecured long-term
financings and the issuance of unsecured debtitiesutypically bears interest at fixed rates althh some bear interest at variable rates. In
addition, we have assumed fixed rate and variatidebt in connection with acquiring propertiesr Dterest rate risk management
objective is to limit the impact of interest rateanges on earnings and cash flows and to loweowenall borrowing costs. To achieve these
objectives, from time to time we enter into intémede hedge contracts such as collars, swaps,atapgeasury lock agreements in order to
mitigate our interest rate risk with respect toimas debt instruments. We do not hold or issuedhiesivative contracts for trading or
speculative purposes.

As of June 30, 2004, we had approximately $1.20hilbf fixed rate debt outstanding. The estimatggregate fair value of this debt at
June 30, 2004 was $1.3 billion. If interest ratesease by 100 basis points, the aggregate fakehealue of fixed rate debt as of June 30,
2004 would decrease by approximately $34.5 milllbmterest rates decrease by 100 basis pointsagiyregate fair market value of fixed
debt as of June 30, 2004 would increase by appai®i|$58.6 million.

As of June 30, 2004, we had approximately $3511Bomiof variable rate debt outstanding that wasprotected by interest rate hedge
contracts. If the weighted average interest ratthmwvariable rate debt is 100 basis points higidower during the 12 months ended
December 31, 2004, our interest expense woulddreased or decreased approximately $3.5 million.

For a discussion of our interest rate hedge caistineffect at June 30, 2004 see “Management’sudsion and Analysis of Financial
Conditions and Results of Operations — Liquiditg &apital Resources — Interest Rate Hedging A@#it If interest rates increase by 100
basis points, the aggregate fair market value egdhinterest rate hedge contracts as of June 8@,26uld increase by approximately $0.3
million. If interest rates decrease by 100 basiastgpthe aggregate fair market value of thesedsterate hedge contracts as of June 30, 2004
would decrease by approximately $0.1 million.

In addition, we are exposed to certain lossesearetrent of nonperformance by the counter partiéeuthe hedge contracts. We expect
the counter parties, which are major financialitatbns, to perform fully under the contracts. Hoxer, if either of the counter parties was to
default on its obligation under an interest ratddeecontract, we could be required to pay theréi#ts on our debt, even if such rates were in
excess of the rate in the contract.

ITEM 4. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
G ENERAL
The purpose of this section is to discuss the tffercess of our disclosure controls and procedanelsour internal control over financ

reporting. The statements in this section repretbentonclusions of Edward J. Fritsch, our CEO, Bey L. Stevens, our CFO. Mr. Fritsch
became our CEO on July 1, 2004 and Mr. Stevensniecair CFO on December 1, 2003.

The CEO and CFO evaluations of our disclosure otsyand procedures and our internal control overfcial reporting include a
review of the controls’ objectives and design, ¢batrols’ implementation by us and the effect @& dontrols on the information generated for
use in this Quarterly Report. We seek to identdyaderrors, control problems or acts of fraud asfiom that appropriate corrective action,
including process improvements, is undertaken.dialosure controls and procedures over finanejbrting are also evaluated on an
ongoing basis through the following:

e activities undertaken and reports issued by empl®ye our internal audit departme
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* by manageme’s evaluation of the results of audits provided byindependent auditors in connection with thetliaactivities;
» other personnel in our finance and accounting degdion;

* members of our internal disclosure committee;

* members of the audit committee of our Board of €lives.

Our management, including the CEO and CFO, do xmeat that our disclosure controls and procedunesir@ernal control over
financial reporting will prevent all error and &lhud. A control system, no matter how well coneeivand operated, can provide only
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the ieiectf the control system are met. Further, trségiheof disclosure controls and procedures
and internal control over financial reporting mreftect the fact that there are resource conssaamd the benefits of controls must be
considered relative to their costs. Because oirtherent limitations in all control systems, no lexion of controls can provide absolute
assurance that all control issues and instanciaudd, if any, within the Company have been detkctdese inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making carfiaudty, and that breakdowns can occur becausesohple error or mistake. Additionally,
controls can be circumvented by the individual aftsome persons, by collusion of two or more peppt by management override of the
control. The design of any system of controls &doased in part upon certain assumptions abodikiéléhood of future events, and there can
be no assurance that any design will succeed ileol its stated goals under all potential futcoaditions. Because of the inherent
limitations in a cost-effective control system, sté&gements due to error or fraud may occur andaaletected.

D 1scLosSURE C ONTROLS AND P ROCEDURES

SEC rules require us to maintain disclosure costaold procedures that are designed to ensurenfbatiation required to be disclosed
in our annual and periodic reports filed with tHeCSis recorded, processed, summarized and repeitieith the time periods specified in the
SEC's rules and forms. Disclosure controls and guaces include, without limitation, controls andgedures designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed by us is aagiated and communicated to our management, induolim CEO and CFO, to allow time
decisions regarding required disclosure.

Based on our evaluation of disclosure controls@nodedures, as of the date of the filing of thisa@erly Report, our CEO and CFO
believe that our disclosure controls and procedaresffective to ensure that information requik@tle disclosed in its financial reports has
been made known to management, including the CEIGC&®, and other persons responsible for prepatich reports and is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported.

| NTERNAL C ONTROL O VER F INANCIAL R EPORTING

SEC rules also require us to maintain internal mmiver financial reporting designed to providasenable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with GAAP. Internal control
over financial reporting includes those policiesl anocedures that:

e pertain to the maintenance of records that in measle detail accurately and fairly reflect our gactions and dispositions of ass:
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» provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparatiomandial statements in accordance
with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures airgomade only in accordance with authorizationsiahagement and directors;
and

« provide reasonable assurance regarding preveotibmely detection of unauthorized acquisitiose wr disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on the finansiatements

In November 2004, we filed amended reports to testar previously reported financial results asafch 31, 2004 and December 31,
2003 and for the three months ended March 31, 20842003 included in our March 31, 2004 Quartedpétt on Form 10-Q and as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the years dbdeedmber 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001 included in ogeB¥er 31, 2003 Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Ernst & Young LLP has issued an utitjgd opinion dated October 22, 2004 on our rexts2003, 2002 and 2001
Consolidated Financial Statements that are inclinledir 2003 amended Annual Report on Form 10-K.

In October 2004, Ernst & Young LLP advised our Au@iommittee that they identified the following midaéweaknesses during their
audits of the restated financial statements fo132@002 and 2001: inadequate procedures for apptefyrassessing and applying accounting
principles to complex transactions; lack of adequtance and accounting staff to appropriatelyiifg and evaluate accounting for
transactions; inadequate procedures to ensureatiitiformation regarding a transaction is knowrthy persons accounting for such
transaction; and lack of application of GAAP tansactions due to perceived immateriality of tratisas.

Since late 2002, we have added several experiestaéido our Finance and Accounting Departmentgsehincluded an Assistant
Controller (new position), a Director of Financ&hndards and Compliance (new position), a Senir@c®r of Investor Relations
(replacement) and a new Chief Financial Officepl@eement, as the former CFO assumed a new posittbin the Company). During 2003
and 2004 up to the filing date of this QuarterlypBe, we have further improved our internal contreér financial reporting by, among other
things, expanding supervisory activities and maimtptechniques and strengthening our procedursigided to ensure that information
relating to transactions directly or indirectly aiving the Company and its subsidiaries is madenknto persons responsible for preparing
our financial statements. We have also implemerdgesed checklists and additional management ayletrsif our accounting staff to ensure
appropriate assessment and application of GAAH toaasactions, particularly complex transactisnsh as sales of real estate with
continuing involvement that are governed by SFAS 6&

Other than the foregoing, there have been no clsaingaur internal controls over financial reportsigce June 30, 2004 that have
materially affected, or are reasonably likely totenally affect, our internal control over finantiaporting.

Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 megupublic companies, including us, with a fisaeduythat ends on December 31 to
report on the effectiveness of their internal conbiver financial reporting in their 2004 Annualg®et on Form 10-K, which we are required
to file with the SEC no later than March 16, 200%ir independent auditor will be required to atteghat report. Our management, including
our CEO and CFO, and our audit committee are wgrHliligently to ensure that our internal controko¥inancial reporting provides
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilitynaficial reporting and the preparation of finansiatements for external purposes in
accordance with GAAP.
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On May 18, 2004, we held our Annual Meeting of tadders. The final vote of the matters presentecfvote at such meeting was as

PART Il - OTHER INFORMATION

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

Election of Director
Edward J. Fritscl

L. Glenn Orr, Jr
Lawrence S. Kapla
William E. Graharm
Ratification of Auditors

For Against Abstain
45,884,97 — 369,80:
45,911,18 — 343,58
45,561,91 — 692,86!
45,906,95 — 347,82
45,456,46 713,62¢ 84,68:

19,342,01 25,426,15 1,486,60:

ITEM 6. EXHIBITS AND REPORTS ON FORM 8-K

Description

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement among Highwdtehlty Limited Partnership, Highwoods
Properties Inc., the Subsidiaries named thereinlamdenders named therein, dated as of June 04,

Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 302 of the Saek-Oxley Act
Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

follows:

Matter

(A)

(B) _

(C) Other Busines

(@) Exhibits
Exhibit No.
10.14
311
31.2
32.1
32.2

(b)

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Saek-Oxley Act

Reports on Form-K

On April 2, 2004, the Company filed a current rémor Form 8K reporting under Item 5 certain information regagdthe pendin

retirement of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer

On June 7, 2004, the Company filed a current repoiform 8-K reporting under Iltem 5 the Compangfinancing of $100.0
million of Exercisable Put Option Securities.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, the registrant has duly causisdréport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

H IGHWOODSP ROPERTIES, | NC.

By: /s EDWARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritsch
President and Chief Executive Officer

By: /sl TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Stevens
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Date: December 13, 2004
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Edward J. Fritsch, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties In¢

Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report da#santain any untrue statement of a materialdacimit to state a material fi
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamis,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the Registesnof, and for, the periods
presented in this quarterly repc

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andré responsible for establishing and maintainiisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedarecaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, pattidy during the period in which this quarterhpoet is being prepare!

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the discisantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that haterialy affected, or is reasonably likely to méadly affect, the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

The Registrant’s other certifying officer andave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimriernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions)

(@) all significant deficiencies and material weagses in the design or operation of internal cboirer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect Regyistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaizeé report financial
information; anc

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that ine@\management or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: December 13, 2004

/s/ EbwaARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302



OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

I, Terry L. Stevens, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report on Forn-Q of Highwoods Properties Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this quarterly report dagsantain any untrue statement of a materialdactmit to state a material f:
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this quarterlpre

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in thisagterly report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, issaf operations and cash flows of the Registesnof, and for, the periods
presented in this quarterly repc

4. The Registrant’s other certifying officer anaré responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules -14 and 15-14) for the Registrant and we ha

(@) designed such disclosure controls and procedareaused such disclosure controls and procedaoitee designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material informatielating to the Registrant, including its condated subsidiaries, is me
known to us by others within those entities, paitidy during the period in which this quarterlywet is being prepare:

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the Registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentisi report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disciosantrols and procedures, as of the end of thegeovered by this
report based on such evaluation;

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the Regt’s internal control over financial reportitigat occurred during the
Registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter that hateriadly affected, or is reasonably likely to méadly affect, the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

5.  The Registrant’s other certifying officer anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the Registrant’s auditors and the iAGdmmittee of Registrant’s Board of Directors farsons performing the
equivalent functions)

€)) all significant deficiencies and material weesses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affectRegistrant’s ability to record, process, summaaiaeé report financial
information; anc

(b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that ineshmanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the
Registrar’s internal control over financial reportir

Date: December 13, 2004

/s/ TERRY L. S TEVENS

Terry L. Steven:
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, and Traas
Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwaderoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Qtfer period ended June 30,
2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Cwsion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, Edwardritsch, President and Chief
Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuamil8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9l Sarbane®xley Act of 2002, tha

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc
2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company

/ s/ E bwARD J. FRITSCH

Edward J. Fritscl
President and Chief Executive Offic
December 13, 200
Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Highwaderoperties, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-Qtfar period ended June 30,
2004 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Csion on the date hereof (the “Report”), |, TdrnStevens, Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursutmtl8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to 9l Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSefction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeoh 1934; anc

2) The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of
the Company



/ s/ TERRYL. STEVENS

Terry L. Steven:

Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treas!
December 13, 200

End of Filing

pors s RGN e

© 2005 | EDGAR Online, Inc.



